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DISCLAIMER AND LIMITATIONS TO THIS REPORT
Th is survey has been prepared as a reference document and is not intended to be exhaustive. Wh ile
the utmost care h as been taken in the preparation of th is publication, it should not be relied upon as
a substitute for legal advice or as a basis for formulating business decisions.
Any views expressed in th is survey are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent t he
views of: (i) IAAG; (ii) the Hawkamah Institute for Corporate Governance (Hawkamah); or (ii i )
the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and World Bank Group.

The following limita tions apply to the information contained in this report.
 The scope of work did not include conducting an ‘audit’ of corporate governance practices of t he
surveyed banks and listed companies in the MENA region. As such, no tests have been carried
out to confirm the va lidity of companies’ and banks’ responses.
 The survey is unable to “look beyond the numbers”. For example, while the survey can capture
quantita tive data on the number of respondents th at h ave established audit committees, it is
unable to comment on whether these audit committees and the ir members are properly fulfil ling
their roles and responsibilities.
 The information presented in th is report was obta ined as a result of analyzing a set of
completed questionnaires and interviews conducted with responding companies and banks
between July 2006 and July 2007. Any subsequent developments were not taken into consideration
in the analysis of the survey findings.
 The surveyed sample was divided into two broad categories: listed and non-listed banks, and
listed companies. Although the report outlines the practices of the surveyed sample according
to these categories, it is pertinent to mention th at the objective of th is survey was not to
h igh ligh t and comment on the differences across these categories. It was to provide an accurate
representation of corporate governance practices in the MENA region as a whole.
Th is publication should not be reproduced in whole or in part without the written permission of t he
copyright holder.
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The International Finance Corporation (www.ifc.org)
The mission of the International Finance Corporation (IFC), the priva te sector arm of the World
Bank Group, is to promote susta inable private sector investment in developing and transition
countries to reduce poverty and improve people’s lives. IFC finances private sector investments in
the developing world, mobilizes capita l in the international f inancial markets, helps clients
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the benefit of 3,319 companies in 140 developing countries. IFC’s worldwide committed portfolio as
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The Priva te Enterprise Partnersh ip in the Middle East and North Africa (PEP MENA), wh ich was
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combination with long-term capita l, to reach its goals and to introduce best practices in the region.
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The Hawkamah Institute for Corporate Governance (Hawkamah) is an international association of
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Hawkamah’s mission is to promote corporate sector reform and good governance, assist the countries
of the region in developing and implementing susta inable corporate governance strategies adapted
to national requirements and objectives. Regional cooperation will facilita te exchange and allow
countries to learn from successful experiences, combine efforts, move towards harmonization of
corporate governance frameworks, and build on synergies resulting from national actions and
initia tives.
Hawkamah is currently shaping the development of corporate governance in the Middle East,
North Africa, and Central Asia. By promoting its core va lues of transparency, accountability ,
fa irness, disclosure, and responsibility, Hawkamah works on policy and practica l aspects of
corporate governance reform in the region.

IAAG Consultoría & Corporate Finance (IAAG) (www.iaag.com)
IAAG is a firm specia lized in strategic consulting and corporate finance. Their focus countries are
located in Latin America, Eastern Europe, the former Soviet Republics, and Asia; they work on
programs sponsored and financed by multila teral agencies, as well as advising the priva te sector
and government agencies. Since its beginnings in 1993, IAAG has participated in the technica l
assistance programs of the principal multila tera l development banks, such as the World Bank,
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, European Union, Andean Development Bank,
and Inter-American Development Bank, among others. Their services, delivered with in t he
framework of these technical assistance programs, are centered on building financia l and capit a l
markets, strengthening small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), and improving corporate
governance practices.
IAAG worked with DEVSTAT S.L. and PKF to compile the data of th is survey.
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Section A. Executive summary: recommendations and key findings
I. Demonstrating Commitment to Corporate Governance
 A variety of stakeholders—in particular market and bank regulators, local corporate
governance institutions and institutes of directors, as well as international organizations and
development institutions—should continue to organize awareness raising events that stress
the benefits of corporate governance in the MENA region. In fact, today a great majority of
respondents—76% of banks and 67% of listed companies—cite corporate governance as being
either important or very important for the ir businesses. Th is is an encouraging sign and points
to a growing awareness of corporate governance.
 However, we also recommend that in addition to awareness raising events, these same
stakeholders should organize targeted seminars and workshops that focus on how to
implement good corporate governance, so that the benefits of corporate governance are not
only understood in theory but may also translate into practice. Indeed, 53% of respondents
were unable to properly define corporate governance, confusing the term with corporate socia l
responsibility or corporate management. Further, most respondents cited improved compliance
(60.7%) and reputation (61.3%) as benefits rather th a n access to capita l (34.7%) or lower cost of
equity (19.3%). Most importantly, not a single responding bank or listed company could cla im
to have applied corporate governance reforms holistica lly, i.e., to have followed a set of 32
indicators wh ich could reasonably qualify a bank or listed company as following ‘best
practice’. Only five respondents, or 3%, could be deemed to follow ‘good practice’, h aving
implemented between 16-23 indicators. The great majority of companies, 92% in all, fa ll under
the ‘emerging practice’ or ‘improved practice’ sections (8-15 indicators). Five percent (5%) h ad
only implemented 0-7 indicators, qualifying them as ‘underdeveloped practice’.
 Companies should formalize key governance structures, policies, and processes. The use of a
company-level code of corporate governance or code of eth ics is not wide-spread among banks or
listed companies. Only 36.5% h ave implemented such codes. A company-level code of
corporate governance and eth ics code are excellent first steps in setting the overall tone for
corporate governance reforms. Regulators may wish to include similar recommendations for
disclosing such documents in voluntary codes of corpora te governance.
 The chairmen of the board and chief executive officer (CEO) should set the ‘tone at the top’
and champion corporate governance reforms with the support from a professional company
secretary. Just under ha lf of surveyed banks (47%) and listed companies (49%) assign the
responsibility for corporate governance policies to the board—in-line with good practice.
However, only a small minority of respondents involve the chief executive officer (CEO) (8%),
chairman (4%), and company secretary (4%) in developing corporate governance frameworks;
and only 11.3% have implemented board-level corpora te governance committees.
 Policy-makers and regulators should strongly encourage—possibly mandate—directors and
senior managers to undertake a minimum of corporate governance related training; banks
and companies should, in turn, encourage their directors and senior managers to attend such
events to preempt regulatory action. Corporate governance institutes and institutes of
directors, too, may wish to build their expertise and capacity to meet the growing demand for
specific corporate governance training. The two largest barriers in implementing corporate
governance reforms are a lack of internal corporate governance know-how, as well as t he
unavailability of external qualif ied specia lists in the region (44.9% for both barriers).
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II. Implementing Good Board Practices
 The survey demonstrates that the role of the board—to provide strategic guidance to and
oversight over management—is not always understood in practice. Banks and listed
companies should thus review, clarify, and formalize the role of the board vis-à-vis
management and shareholders in a corporate governance code or board charter. Ninety
three percent (93%) of banks and 87% of listed companies stated th at the board and not
management was responsible for setting company stra tegy, contrary to good practice wh ich
calls for management to develop, and the board to approve and then monitor management’s
execution of strategy. Moreover, most boards in the region may not have the necessary
independence to properly fulf ill its oversight function. Fifty six percent (56%) of boards
either do not have a single or only one independent director, and only 26.4% of boards ha ve
audit committees with a majority of independent directors. Finally, less th an ha lf of
respondents (40%) h ave a succession plan in place, again, an indication th at the board may not
be fulfil ling its strategic and oversight function.
 Boards in the MENA region generally have the right board size. The majority of boards in
MENA h ave eight or more members. Bank boards are usually composed of ten or more
members, wh ile the boards of listed companies typica lly h ave eight to ten. These numbers
generally appear to be in-line with good practice, if slightly on the h igh size.
 Banks and listed companies should gradually increase the number of independent directors
who sit on their boards, and specify in the ir annua l reports the ir understanding of wh a t
constitutes independence and which director is deemed independent. Fifty seven percent
(57%) of a ll listed companies and 54.3% of banks do not have any or only a single independent
director on their board.
 Banks and listed companies in MENA should ensure for an appropria te mix-of-skills on the ir
boards. An overwhelming majority of responding banks and listed companies require the
combination of integrity (70%) and professional experience (69%), in-line with best practice.
However; 75% of respondents chose “being a shareh older” as the most relevant requirement
for being a director, wh ich may lead to the creation of insider or shareholder boards th a t
often do not act in the interest of the company and all of its shareholders—in particular when
independent directors are not or only insufficiently represented on the board. With respect to
female representation on the board, a vast majority of banks (78%) sta te th a t they do not
h ave a single female director, wh ile only 1% answered th at they h ad more th an one. On the
other hand, one-th ird of listed companies had at least one or more female board members, a
small but important step towards balancing the boardroom.
 Company stakeholders, in particular shareholders but also regulators, should continue to
encourage banks and listed companies to separate the position of cha irman and CEO. A
significant majority of respondents (65%) state th a t the positions of CEO and board cha irman
are held by different persons, in-line with best practice. In particular banks (72.2%) follow
th is best practice, wh ile 42.3% of listed companies continue to combine these two functions.
 Audit committees are well represented in the region, however, their independence needs to be
strengthened; companies should also explore the benefits of creating other board committees to
streamline the board’s work. Eighty one percent (81%) of banks and 74.7% of listed companies
h ave audit committees, in-line with good corpora te governance, however, as already
mentioned, only 26.4% of these committees are composed of a majority of independent
directors. Other committees are less prevalent in the region, with only a minority of
respondents citing th at the ir boards a lso have nomination (22.5%) or remuneration (29.3%)
committees.
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 Banks and listed companies may wish to create board-level remuneration committees to
develop executive and non-executive remuneration policies, thus ensuring that banks and
listed companies in the MENA region are able to attract, motivate, and retain talent. W i t h
respect to non-executive remuneration, 42.9% of companies do not pay their directors an
a ttendance fee; and only a minority of non-executive directors receives extra pay for tak ing on
additional responsibilities, such as serving on committees (16.1%) or cha iring the board
(11.3%). With respect to executive remuneration, the survey demonstrates th a t the use of
variable remuneration packages is, surprisingly, limited, with 53.8% of respondents citing
th a t they do not offer their executives variable packages. Stock options, too, are not
commonplace and only 9.8% of executives and 3.6% of non-executives have such plans. Th irty
nine percent (39%) of executives receive board fees, contrary to good practice. Finally, most
banks and companies typica lly do not offer their executives with pension or insurance benefits,
only 5.4% and 7.2% respectively, both of which are considered long-term incentives th a t in
the case of executives can help tie them to the company.
 Board working procedures could be improved, in particular with respect to the number of
board meetings per year and the development of a professional corporate secretary function.
The majority of banks and companies provide relevant information to the ir boards one to two
weeks before board meetings, in-line with good practice. With respect to banks, 46% answered
th a t the ir board met an average of three to five times per year, and 21% stated th at they met
between six and nine times. Only 27% of bank boards meet ten to 12 times per year, in-line
with wha t is arguably considered best practice for banks. With respect to listed companies,
60% responded th a t they effectively met on a quarterly basis, and only 15% met between six to
nine times per year, in-line with wha t most would conceive as good practice.
 The position of the company secretary needs to be professionalized and generally strengthened
in most MENA listed companies and banks. Indeed, 45% stated th at the company secretary is
a part-time employee, wh ich wh ile appropriate for smaller companies, may not be
appropriate for banks and large publicly listed companies due to the lack of time in supporting
the cha irman to run the board. It should be noted th a t one-on-one meetings during the
interview process revea led th a t the position of company secretary is general ly
underdeveloped.
 Board eva luations and director training—both orientation and continuous professiona l
education—should be furthered by banks and listed companies and, if necessary, by regulators.
Only 20% of banks and 15% of listed companies conduct board eva luations. Similarly, director
tra ining on corporate governance, whether in the form of director orientation or on-going
tra ining, remains scarce throughout the MENA region, with only 15.3% of respondents offering
such tra ining for their directors.

III. Building a Robust Control Environment and Processes
 Banks and listed companies should strengthen th eir risk management frameworks and
practices, in particular by assigning responsibility for managing risks at the management
level, and ensuring th a t the board has the necessary expertise to establish risk policies and
effectively guide and oversee management in managing risks. Central banks in particular
should provide the necessary guidance to and oversigh t over banks to ensure th a t banks have
robust risk frameworks in place. Overa ll, less th an h a lf of those surveyed (43%) had a risk
function in place, with 23% of listed companies and 62% of banks stating th at they had a risk
manager or risk department in place. Those banks and listed companies th a t do have a risk
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management function follow best practice in th a t the board oversees the risk management
system as implemented by management.
S imilarly, the internal control function needs to be strengthened by a majority of banks and
listed companies in the MENA region to safeguard assets against unauthorized use or disposa l,
mainta in proper accounting records and ensure for the reliability of financia l information.
Less th an ha lf of the respondents (47%) h ave an internal control function, i.e., controller or
control department. In those banks or listed companies with control functions, a significant
majority assigned the board to oversee th is function (80.3% for banks, 69% for listed
companies); 35% of respondents on the other hand assigned the CEO to oversee the company’s
internal controls. Best practice calls for management to set, implement and oversee interna l
controls, and for the board to assure itself th a t internal controls are robust and defensible.
Banks and listed companies should ensure themselves that the chief internal auditor has
unfettered access to an independent audit committee. The internal audit function is wel l
established in MENA, with 88.7% of banks and companies reporting th a t they h ave a ch ief of
internal audit (CIA). For 80% of the respondent the CIA reports to the board. Best practice
calls for the CIA to report to an independent audit committee. However, a lthough the vast
majority of respondents have audit committees, only 25% of these audit committees can be
considered independent.
Banks should strengthen (and central banks should strongly encourage) the establishment of
a compliance function. Most banks (64%) h ave a compliance function in place; only 23% of
listed companies reported having a compliance function. All banks should strive to h ire a
chief compliance officer (CCO) and build a strong compliance function.
On the other hand, external audit practices are mostly in-line with best practice; however,
independence needs to be strengthened throughout the region, both among banks and listed
companies. Ninety one percent (91%) of those surveyed had an external auditor, of wh ich
77.2% constituted internationally recognized audit firms. A majority of companies do not
receive additional services from the ir external auditors (51%) and are thus safeguarded from
conflicts of interest. However, the idea of audit firm or partner rotation to ensure for externa l
auditor independence is not followed by banks and listed companies: of those surveyed, only
32% have an audit firm or partner rotation policy in place.
The role of the audit committee is broadly understood, however, the role of the committee in
ensuring that all control functions—risk, internal controls, compliance, as well as internal
and external audit processes—properly interact needs to be strengthened. Moreover, audit
committees need to improve their oversight over the compliance function. Indeed, only 30.6%
of audit committees felt th a t they were responsible for assuring themselves th a t t he
compliance function was operating.

IV. Strengthening Transparency and Disclosure
Banks and listed companies in the MENA region generally comply well with good practice
and regulations for financial disclosures. A vast majority (92.3%) of respondents provided
financia l statements to shareholders, either through the local press (94.7%), genera l
assembly (93.4%), annual report (88%) or company’s website (85.9%), in-line with good
practice.
Non-financial disclosure on the other hand remains weak, and banks and listed companies
should take steps to improve upon their disclosure in this area, in particular with respect to
corporate governance related information. Wh i le 68% of respondents disclose their corpora te
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objectives, disclosure in other areas remains lackluster, in particular the disclosure of
corporate governance rela ted information, wh ich is particularly weak among banks and listed
companies. Indeed, 53.8% of respondents cite th a t they do not make corporate governance
rela ted information ava ilable to shareholders.
 Web-based disclosure needs to be improved. Listed companies, and to a lesser degree banks,
should publish their annual reports and other relevant information, for example regarding
beneficial ownership, on their websites. With respect to the annual report, 82% of banks but
only 61% of listed companies stated that their annual report was published on their website,
which typica lly (but not always) conta ins a full set of financia l information. Only 22.7%
disclose the ir articles of association or company ch arter, 28.7% the company’s beneficia l
owners, and 24.7% the company’s dividend policy on the company’s website.
 While financial disclosure in the annual report remains relatively strong at 88%, nonfinancial disclosure, again, remains weak and should be an area for urgent reform given the
importance of the annual report for shareholders and investors. The survey shows th at few
respondents included a section on ‘management’s discussion and analysis’ (28%), or indeed the
bank’s or company’s policies towards corporate socia l responsibility (33%) or corporate
governance (32%).
 MENA law- and rule-makers should continue to push for the full adoption of
internationally recognized financial reporting standards. Sixty seven percent (67%) of
respondents stated th a t they disclose information based on International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS); only 4.6% report according to US GAAP. Because most central banks in
MENA require the banking sector to report in accordance with IFRS, in contrast to the marke t
regulators, 77% of banks indicate th a t the ir financia l reporting is done in accordance wit h
IFRS, in comparison to 58% of listed companies. Th is information should be carefully
scrutinized as the majority of countries th a t h ave adopted IFRS h ave not done so completely ,
or have out-dated versions of the IFRS framework, and so investors should take care to
understand which specif ic standards have been omitted or are outdated.
 Although the large majority of banks and listed companies that are a part of a group
produce consolidated financial reports, the regulator should ensure for full compliance with
this best practice. Listed companies are less likely to produce consolidated reports th an banks,
73% vs. 84%.
 Most respondents continue to view disclosure from a compliance point of view, rather than
an effective tool for managing stakeholder relations and adding value to their business; thus,
stakeholders should organize awareness-raising events on the role of disclosure in
strengthening corporate governance. The main barrier cited by banks and listed companies as
to why they do not fully implement best practice in the area of disclosure is a lack of
legisla tion, in particular in the area of non-financia l disclosure, again confirming the
compliance-driven understanding of corporate governance.

V. Protecting Shareholder Rights
 Regulators should strengthen the ability of shareholders to vote during the general assembly.
The vast majority of banks and listed companies, 75.4%, confirmed rela tively h igh attendance
levels at general assemblies, demonstrating th a t sh are holders are interested and willing to
engage with the ir companies. Voting at the majority of general assemblies is still conducted
by a show-of- h ands (66.2%), and only slightly more th at h a lf of respondents (54.3%) cited
proxy voting as an alternative. At 1.3%, electronic voting is virtually non-existent in the
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region. A basic shareholder right is the right to elect board members. In the MENA region,
board members are elected by shareholders in the vast majority (81%) of banks and listed
companies surveyed. Only 17.7% of respondents a llow for cumulative voting. Finally, best
practice calls for shareholders to be furnished with sufficient and timely information
concerning the date, location, and agenda of the general assembly, as well as full and time ly
information regarding the issues to be decided at th e meeting. It is generally thought th a t
such information should be provided to shareholders at least 20 days in advance of the
assembly, however, the survey shows th at wh ile slightly over ha lf of banks (55%) follow
th is best practice, only 22% of listed companies do so.
 The regulators should safeguard shareholder rights to share in the profits of the
organization, focusing on the effective enforcement of existing legal provisions. There are
many ways in which th is fundamenta l share holder right to share in the profits of t he
organization can be evaded or eroded, primarily through insider dealing, conflicts of interest,
and/or related party transactions undertaken by company insiders, and regulators should be
vigilant in enforcing violations against th is best practice. Eighty two percent (82%) of
respondents cited th a t country-laws or internal documents require them to disclose rela ted
party transactions. Moreover, a great majority number of banks (80%) and listed companies
(71%) h ave established policies on conflicts of interest and rela ted party transactions; of
those th a t h ad not, only 34.7% of respondents showed interest in developing such policies in
the future. However, such policies are only effective when respected by managers and
directors. Unfortunately, 54.7% of respondents though t th a t directors fa iled to avoid conflict
of interest situations, and th a t 62.7% used inside information for their benefit, demonstrating
an important gap between the law on the books vs. actual practice.
 Shareholders should have a say on extraordinary transactions, and banks and companies
should adopt specific processes regulating when and how shareholders approve
extraordinary transactions in their articles of association. A signif icant majority of t he
respondents, approximately 70%, stated th a t their board is generally responsible for
approving extraordinary transactions, regardless of the ir va lue. An important minority
stated th at the competence to approve extraordinary transactions above a certa in threshold,
e.g., over 50% of book value, is assigned to the shareh olders (40.8%). And while there is much
debate in the corporate governance community as to whether shareholders are best placed to
vote on such transactions, or whether instead directors working with management and the ir
deta iled knowledge of the situation should do so for the sake of timely decision-making, it
may well be prudent to allow shareholders a final vote on such matters.
 Banks and listed companies should provide for tag-along rights to their shareholders, while
regulators should ensure that effective provisions on pre-emptive rights are enshrined in
relevant laws or regulations. Both pre-emptive and tag-along rights are key elements of an
effective framework to protect the interests of minority shareholders. The survey shows th a t
while approximately h a lf of banks protect their minority shareholders through tag-a long
rights (51%), only a minority of listed companies (31%) do so.

VI. Corporate Governance Issues for Banks, Family-, and State-owned Enterprises
i. Corporate governance issues related to banks
 Bank regulators and other stakeholders have done well to raise awareness of good
corporate governance for banks, and should continue to do so. Seventy three percent
(73%) of bank managers and directors reported the ir familiarity with the Basel Committee
for Banking Supervision Guidelines for Enhancing the Corporate Governance of Banking
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Organizations (BCBS Guidelines). On the other hand, much of th is awareness must now be
translated into practice, for example, via specif ic corporate governance workshops or
consulta tions.
 Bank boards should review their current committee structure, in particular with respect to
which committees are best placed to support the board vis-à-vis management. Eighty one
percent (81%) of banks have audit committees. Only 19% of banks have board-level risk
committees, wh ile 31% of boards have credit committees. Best practice calls for the board
to set policies on risk and credit, ideally through a board-level risk committee, wh ile t he
implementation of these matters should be left to th e management team and management
level risk and credit committees. Banks do have a number of committees at the management
level, in-line with best practice, including committees on assets and liabilities (90.3%) ,
information technology (88.2%), risk management (81.4%), and credit (69%).
 Reporting lines for key control functions need to be reviewed and re-aligned to avoid
potential conflicts of interest.
- The chief risk officer (CRO) should be independent of any business line, so as to avoid any
conflicts of interest, and best practice calls for the CRO to report to the CEO or a managementlevel risk committee, with a “dotted line” reporting relationship to the board and relevant
committee, in particular to the audit or risk committee. And while the CRO does indeed report
to the CEO in 72% of the cases, there is little to demonstrate that there is any reporting line,
full or dotted, to the board (13%) or its audit committee (18%).
- The chief compliance officer (CCO) should be independent of any business line as well and, at a
minimum, report to a senior level manager, with unrestricted access to the CEO and chief
financial officer (CFO), as well as have a dotted reporting line to the board’s audit committee.
The survey demonstrates that the CCO reports to the CEO in the great majority of cases (70%),
but not to the board (11%) or its audit committee (20%).
- Best practice indicates that the CIA should report to the board through its audit committee on a
functional basis and to the CEO on an administrative basis. The survey provides evidence that
the CIA’s reporting lines remain muddled, with 34.7% CIA’s reporting to the CEO and only
40.3% reporting to the board’s audit committee, which, given its lack of independence, may well
undermine that reporting relationship.
 Banks should consider incorporating corporate governance into their investment
decision-making process, thus reducing their portfolio risk and at the same time adding
value to their clients. Results indicate th a t a majority of banks (58%) do not include an
evaluation of the ir clients’ corporate governance practices, and those th at do typica lly
only do so on a piecemeal and not holistic basis.

ii. Corporate governance issues related to family-owned enterprises
 Family-owned enterprises (FOEs) and banks (FOBs) should consider adopting family
constitutions and family bodies, such as family councils or assemblies, to help them
differentiate the family interests from those of the company, and also regulate the policies
that will guide the relationship between the family and the company. Wh i le 50% of
listed FOEs had adopted a family constitution, not a single FOB h ad done so. The survey
a lso shows th at family councils are not commonly established in the region, neither for
FOBs (0%) nor for listed FOEs (25%).

Page 8

MENA-WIDE C ORPORATE GOVERNANCE SURVEY
SECTION A: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

 Similarly, family-owned banks and listed companies would be well served to adopt
family-member employment policies. Once at the cousin consortium stage, good practice
calls for families to formalize the ir family members’ employment policies. Indeed, t he
survey shows th at family membership at the board-level is prevalent in listed FOEs,
with 75% of respondents citing th a t the ir boards are composed of a majority of family
members. FOBs on the other h and show a substantia l ly h igher degree of non-family
membership, with only 33% of boards being composed of a majority of family members,
which is likely due to the strict fit and proper requirements imposed by regulators; in
fact, a ll FOBs cited th a t family board members were required to comply wit h
qualif ications for being a board member. At the same time, the position of CEO is held by
a non-family member among 67% of FOBs, wh ile th i s percentage fa lls to 50% for listed
FOEs.
 Finally, all banks and companies in the MENA region should adopt succession policies
and plans to ensure for business continuity and sustainability. Unfortunately, family
succession plans are not widespread in the region, and results show th at only 29% of
respondents have prepared a succession plan.

iii. Corporate governance issues related to state-owned enterprises
 Finally, all banks and companies in the MENA region should adopt succession policies
and plans to ensure for business continuity and sustainability. Unfortunately, family
succession The public sector and other stakeholders should raise awareness as to the
importance of corporate governance for state-owned enterprises (SOEs), in particular the
OECD Guidelines on Corporate Governance for SOEs. These Guidelines are not we ll
known, as just over ha lf of the respondents (56%) declared to be familiar with the ir
content and scope.
 Regardless of whether the state follows a centralized or decentralized ownership model, it
should ensure that there is one body responsible for protecting its assets, exercising its
ownership rights and responsibilities, and ensuring for good corporate governance
among the country’s SOEs. The survey revea ls th a t the exercise of political rights is
usually a competence of a h igh-profile public officer or delegate (80% of responses in
aggregate terms), regardless of the share holder’s identity. Of note is th a t an
overwhelming majority of state-owned banks (SOBs), 90%, declared th a t property rights
are exercised by a h igh-profile public officer or delegate, wh ile th is percentage fa lls to
62% of respondents for SOEs th a t are partia lly listed on an exchange. Most SOEs and
SOBs report to the controlling agency on an ad-hoc basis, upon request (45%), and not on a
periodic basis, for example annually (25%).
 All SOEs should have a clear and explicit set of objectives, which are made publicly
available. Most state-owned enterprises separate th eir socia l mission from their profitseeking business objectives, with 67% of SOEs citing an existing difference between these
often conflicting priorities.
 Finally, the state should have its own policy in place, requiring all SOEs and SOBs to
adopt good corporate governance policies. To date, only 33.3% of government ownership
entities have a policy or requirement for the ir SOEs to adopt good corporate governance
practices, demonstrating th a t corporate governance does not appear to be of primary
concern for most governments.
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 Moreover, the state should ensure that the boards of its SOEs and SOBs are composed of
an appropriate mix-of-skills and director types (executive, non-executive, and
independent directors), and that these directors receive an appropriate remuneration.
Unfortunately, being a h igh-profile public officer is still the primary criteria for
nominating a director to the board of a SOE in 62% of cases. Competency and skills are
secondary requirements, fortunately still considered as an important criterion by 52% of
nominating entities. And with respect to director remuneration, results show th at 48% of
directors are not remunerated for their board services.
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Section B. Introduction
I. The definition of and rationale for improved corporate governance
i. What is corporate governance?
Corporate governance is the system by wh ich business corporations are directed and controlled.
The corporate governance structure specif ies the distribution of rights and responsibilities
among different participants in the corporation, such as, the boards, managers, shareholders,
and other stakeholders, and spells out the rules and procedures for making decisions on
corporate affa irs. By doing th is, it also provides the structure through wh ich the company
objectives are set, and the means of atta ining those objectives and monitoring performance.1
A company committed to good corporate governance has well-defined and protected
shareholder rights, a solid control environment, high levels of transparency and disclosure,
and an empowered board (see a lso Figure B-1). The interests of the company and those of a l l
shareholders are aligned.

Figure B-1: The five elements of good corporate governance
Good board practices
Roles and authorities are clearly deﬁned
Duties and responsibilities of directors understood
Board is well structured
Appropriate composition and mix-of-skills
Appropriate board procedures in place
Director remuneration in-line with best practice
Board self-evaluation and training conducted

Control environment and processes
Independent audit committee established
Risk management framework/structure present
Internal control procedures in place
Internal audit function in place
Independent external auditor conducts audits
Management information systems established
Compliance function established

Disclosure and transparency
Financial information disclosed
Non-ﬁnancial information disclosed
Financials prepared according to IFRS
High-quality annual report published
We b-based disclosure and investor site in place

Shareholder rights
Minority shareholder rights are formalized
We ll organized general assembly conducted
Policy on related party transactions in place
Policy on extraordinary transactions in place
Clearly deﬁned and explicit dividend policy

Commitment
Board discusses corporate governance issues and has created corporate governance committee
Company has nominated a corporate governance champion
Corporate governance improvement plan is in place
Appropriate resources are committed to corporate governance
Policies and procedures have been formalized and distributed to relevant staff
Company has developed corporate governance code or guidelines
Company is publicly recognized as a corporate governance leader

ii. Why does corporate governance matter?
Corporate governance matters to stakeholders for broadly similar reasons.
Investors care about corporate governance since well-governed companies have lower risk
and fewer unexpected events. Well-governed companies are better at protecting
shareholder rights, and provide better assurance th a t managers and directors will act in
the best interest of the company and all of its shareholders. In terms of financia l and

1

OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, 2004.
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operational performance, well-governed companies outperform the ir peers and provide a
h igher long-term return on investment.
Companies benefit as the risks associated with the corporation decrease. Since good
corporate governance minimizes “rent-seeking”2 by managers or controlling shareholders,
investors invest with a greater sense of security and confidence. The result for the
company is greater access to capita l. The cost of capita l is effectively reduced and the
va lue of the corporation increases. The reduction in risk is complemented by improved
operations, which come from better information flows and more rigorous strategic
decision-making, which ultimately contribute to better performance.
The public sector cares about corporate governance as it facilita tes the development of
stronger capita l markets, reduces risk, and improves a country’s ability to mobilize,
a llocate, and monitor investments—a ll of wh ich he lp foster economic growth. The
vulnerability to financial crisis, as witnessed in South East Asia in 1997 and today’s U.S.based mortgage crisis, can also be minimized through better corporate governance.
Other stakeholders such as banks, suppliers and employees benefit from the reduced risk and
the increased health of the company. Banks, in particular, will make credit decisions
with greater confidence, and can expect th a t they will be handled fa irly should problems
arise. Other stakeholders, including suppliers and employees, will prefer to enter into
business rela tionships with well-governed companies, since the resulting relationships
are likely to be more prosperous, fairer, and longer-la sting compared to companies where
corporate governance practices are deficient.
Did you know that?
Well-governed UK companies posted 18% h igher returns th an those with poor
governance, after adjusting for risk; worst offenders underperformed the average
industry-adjusted return on assets by three to five percentage points a year. 3
Well-governed firms in Korea h ave been found to trade at a premium of 160 % to poorly
governed firms.4
A worst-to-best improvement in corporate governance predicted an astronomical 700fold increase in firm value among Russian firms.5
A study of S&P 500 firms showed th a t companies with strong or improving corporate
governance practices outperformed those with poor or deteriorating governance
practices by about 19% over a two-year period. 6
Institutional investors will pay premiums to own well-governed companies. Premiums
averaged 30% in Eastern Europe and Africa and 22% in Asia and Latin America. 7 In the
MENA region, premiums ranged from 29% (Egypt) to 30% (Morocco).

2
3

4

5

6

In economics, rent seeking refers to individuals or corporations that seek gains by manipulating the environment rather
than through productive behavior.
ABI Research Paper 7, “Governance and Performance in Corporate Britain”, the Association of British Insurers (ABI),
February 2008. The study also found that it takes two to three years after a company starts breaching until there is an
impact on performance.

Black, B. S.; Jang, H., Kim, W. (2004), ‘Predicting Firms’ Corporate Governance Choices: Evidence from Korea’, University
of Texas Law School Working Paper No. 39, August.

Black, B. (2001), ‘The Corporate Governance Behavior and Market Value of Russian Firms’, Emerging Markets Review, vol.
2, March.
Grandmont, R., Grant, G, and Silva, F. (2004), Beyond the Numbers – Corporate Governance: Implications for Investors,
(Deutsche Bank, April 1).
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II. Recent trends and developments in corporate governance across MENA
In the past seven years there have been major world-wide changes in the area of corpora te
governance. During th is period, there have been more th an 90 legisla tive initia tives in 30
different countries, in addition to countless studies and initiatives to update best practice in
corporate governance.
The Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region, too, has seen important changes in the field
of corporate governance. Indeed, not seven years ago corporate governance was a nascent, large ly
unknown concept. Today, hundreds of conferences on corporate governance have been held across
the region, a number of MENA countries have adopted new or amended existing corporate
governance codes and regulations,8 institutes of corporate governance or directors have been
established, 9 and banks and companies themselves are starting to undertake corporate governance
improvement plans. A number of events have spurred the emergence of corporate governance as a
leading reform initiative, including: (i) a number of domestic reform initiatives in the region, in
particular the launch of Hawkama h; (ii) the rise of international, regional, and domestic
investment to the region, coupled with stock market booms (and corrections), and the emergence of
investor activism; (iii) corporate governance programs and projects implemented by internationa l
development institutions;10 and (iv) updates to the international corporate governance
framework. 11
III. About this survey
i. Purpose of the survey
The primary objectives of the survey were as follows:
To allow a ll stakeholders to gain an understanding of the extent to which banks and
listed companies in the MENA region follow good corporate governance practices, inline with internationally recognized best practice.
To assist both the private and public sectors to close any gaps between best and current
practice, by identifying areas for improvement.
To provide corporate governance projects with a baseline on which to focus their corporate
governance reform activities.

7
8

9

10

11

McKinsey’s Global Investor Opinion Survey, 2002.

The following countries have launched or amended corporate governance codes or regulations: Egypt: Corporate
Governance Code for Listed Companies (2005) and State-Owned Enterprises (2006); Jordan: Corporate Governance
Code for Banks; Lebanon: Corporate Governance Code for Small and Medium-Sized Companies; Morocco: Corporate
Governance Code (2008); Oman: Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies (2002, update in process); Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia: Corporate Governance Regulations (2006); UAE: ADSM Corporate Governance Code (2006); ADSM
Corporate Governance Listing Rules (2006); ESCA Corporate Governance Regulation (2007). The following countries are
in the process of launching codes or regulations: Algeria: Corporate Governance Code for Family-Owned Enterprises;
Lebanon: Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies and Banks; Bahrain: Corporate Governance Code for Listed
Companies; Tu nisia: Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies; We st Bank & Gaza: Corporate Governance
Code for Small and Medium-Sized Companies; Jordan: Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies; Ye men:
Corporate Governance Code for Small and Medium-Sized Companies.
Institutes that have been established in the region are the Egyptian Institute of Directors (2005), the Hawkamah Institute
of Corporate Governance (2006); and the Mudara Institute of Directors (2008).

Notably the Center for International Private Enterprise (CIPE), Global Corporate Governance Forum, IFC, Organization
for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and Wo rld Bank.

Revised OECD Principles of Corporate Governance (1997, revised in 2004); Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s
Guidance on Enhancing Corporate Governance for Banking Organizations (1998, revised in 2006); OECD Guidelines on
Corporate Governance of State-owned Enterprises (2005); the Islamic Financial Services Board’s Guiding Principles on
Corporate Governance for Institutions Offering Only Islamic Financial Services (Excluding Islamic Insurance (Takaful)
Institutions and Islamic Mutual Funds) (2006).
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ii. Target countries and organizations
The survey targeted countries with operational stock exchanges in three MENA regions
specifically the Maghreb (Morocco, Tunisia), Mashrek (Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, and West Bank
& Gaza) and the Gulf Cooperation Council or GCC (Ba hra in, Kuwait, Oman, Saudi Arabia,
and the United Arab Emirates). With in these countries, the survey targeted banks, both
listed and non-listed, and publicly listed companies.

iii. Survey timeline
The survey was launched in July 2006 and final data collection completed by July 2007.

iv. Survey response rate and sample error
The universe consisted of 1,044 banks and listed
companies, specif ically 122 banks (of wh ich 65
were listed and 57 non-listed) and 922 listed
companies.

Table B-1: Final survey response rate
Banks

Listed companies

Tota l

74

81

155

The final response rate to the survey was 155
respondents of which 74 were banks and 81 listed companies (see also Table B-1). The sample
error th a t resulted for banks and companies’ is 7.27%,
with
a confidence level of 95%.
When taken
Table B-2: Survey sample error
individually, the sample error for banks is 7.18% and for
listed companies 10.14% (see also Table B-2).
No.
of Sample
Responses Error

Banks

74

These sample errors, slightly h igher th an the 5% usua l ly
considered when large universes are estimated, are
primarily due to the relatively small size of the universe
and, secondarily, to the fact th at the survey targeted
h igh- level senior executives and directors, many of
which could not find the time to respond. The response
rate by country to the survey is shown in Figure B-2.

7,18%

Listed
companies 81

10,41%

TOTAL

7,27%

155

Figure B-2: Response rate to the questionnaire by country disaggregated by type of
entity
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Section C. Main findings
I. Demonstrating commitment to good corporate governance
i. Understanding the definition of and business case for corporate governance
As shown in Figure C-1, the great majority of respondents—76% of banks and 68% of listed
companies—cited implementing corporate governance as being important to very important for
their businesses.
Figure C-1: The importance of implementing corporate governance

Listed Companies 14%

Banks 4%

Irrelevant

19%

19%

38%

30%

43%

33%

Of average importance

Important

Very important

On the other hand, not a ll respondents were able to properly define the term corporate
governance as ‘a system by which companies are directed and controlled.’ Respondents confused
the term corporate governance with corporate socia l responsibility (CSR) or corpora te
management, or had a narrow, compliance view of corporate governance (see Figure C-2). And
while both CSR and corporate management are clearly important issues—and most certa inly
will reinforce each other—they are two very distinct concepts from corporate governance t h a t
merit the ir own attention and thus need to be considered separately.
Figure C-2: Defining corporate governance

Listed Company
4%
Banks

20%

6%
10%
8%
7%

26%

44%

55%
21%

A system by which companies are directed and controlled
A commitment to contribute to sustainable economic development
The company's internal structure that will allow it to comply with domestic laws and regulations
A set of tools to help management run the day-to-day activities
It is the same thing as Corporate Social Responsibility
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Unsurprisingly, and in-line with the findings in th is section, Figure C-3 demonstrates th a t a
great majority of survey respondents associated the benefits of good corporate governance wit h
better compliance and improved reputation; only a small majority cited a lower cost of capit a l
and access to outside capita l.
Figure C-3: Understanding the business case for corporate governance
Compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

51.95%

Improve strategic decision-making
Building/enhancing the company/bank reputation and trust among

53.25%

stakeholders
Protect shareholder rights
M itigation of risk

36.36%

Improve operational efficiency

Comply with Bank is requirement

20.78%

Prevent and/or resolve corporate conflicts
Access to external capital
Lower cost of debt
Lower cost of equity

61.64%
61.04%
58.90%
63.64%
56.16%
52.05%

33.77%

Sustainability over time

69.86%
68.49%

41.10%
40.26%
38.36%

35.62%
27.27%
32.88%
36.36%
21.92%
19.48%
21.92%
16.88%
Listed companies

Banks

Did you know that the cha irs and finance directors of the top 1,000 listed UK firms cited
the following three benefits of improved corporate governance: (i) protecting shareholder
rights (95%); ( ii) improving access to external capita l (88%); and (iii) lowering cost of
debt and equity (85%)? Only 1% of respondents stated compliance with regulations as a
major benefit. 12
In order to ensure th at the benefits from implementing good corporate governance are understood
in theory and also translate into practice, a ll relevant stakeholders should focus on building the
business case for good corporate governance by encouraging targeted seminars and workshops for
directors and managers on corporate governance. Banks and companies in turn should encourage
their directors and senior managers to attend such events.
ii. Implementing corporate governance: practice vs. theory
Table C-1 and Figure C-4 h igh light th at wh ile banks and listed companies state th at corpora te
governance matters to them, few can credibly cla im to having implemented broad-scale reforms.
In fact, not a single respondent had applied a ll 32 indicators of wha t could reasonably qualify a
company as a following ‘best practice’ and only five respondents or 3% could be deemed to follow
‘good practice’, h aving implemented between 16-23 indicators (see Section E.II on page 84 for t he
complete list of indicators). The great majority of companies, 92% in all, fa ll under the ‘emerging
practice’ or ‘improved practice’ sections.

12

Moxey, P. (2004), Corporate Governance and Wealth Creation, ACCA Occasional Research Paper No. 37.
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Table C-1: Corporate governance indicators
No. of indicators
followed

Level of practice

No. of respondents

% of respondents

0-7

Underdeveloped practice

7

5%

8-15

Emerging practice

78

51%

16-23

Improved practice

62

41%

24-31

Good practice

5

3%

Best practice

0

0%

152

100%

32

TOTAL SAMPLE

Figure C-4: Best practice indicators and levels
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10
0

Underdeveloped
practice

Emerging
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Improved
practice

A country -by-country comparison demonstrates th a t companies in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
on average, fall into the ‘improved practice’ category, meeting an average of over 17 best
practice indicators (see Figure C-5). Companies in all other MENA countries, again on average,
fa ll into the ‘emerging practice’ category, with the average Egyptian company following 15 best
practice indicators, while the remaining countries average between 13 and 14 indicators. 13

13

The following country comparison is based on the average number of corporate governance indicators met by companies
in a particular country. Lebanon, Morocco, and the West Bank and Gaza have not been included in this country
comparison due to the low level of response from listed companies and banks, and hence high statistical error that could
distort the consistency of the surveys ﬁndings.
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Figure C-5: Corporate governance practices aggregated on a country-by-country level
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According to Figure C-6 banks follow better governance practices th an listed companies. Th is is
unsurprising, given the fact th a t banks are typicall y h igh ly regulated, with specific centra l
bank circulars and regulations on, for example, risk, internal controls, disclosure, and even board
composition. Interestingly, results for both banks and listed companies follow a similar trend,
with a ll respondents scoring relative ly h igh (50% and above) on disclosure and transparency, as
well as the control environment, both of which are typica lly codified in laws and regulations,
while respondents fa iled to break the 50% threshold for the other indicators, namely board
practices (47%), shareholder rights (42%), and commitment to good corporate governance (40%).
Figure C-6: Implementing the five pillars of good corporate governance

iii. Recognizing international reference points for good practice
It appears from the survey responses shown in Figure C-7 th at a great number of respondents,
25.6% of listed companies, did not follow internationally recognized reference points for good
corporate governance, such as the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance (OECD Principles),
while 57.5% of banks followed the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s Guidelines on
Enhancing Corporate Governance for Banking Organizations (BCBS Guidelines). Compliance
with national codes of corporate governance, insofar as they exist, appears more wide-spread.

Page 18

MENA-WIDE C ORPORAT E GOVERNANCE SURVEY
SECTION C: MAIN FINDINGS

Again, awareness raising of the existence of these principles, as well as efforts to adapt these
best practices to the local circumstances, may well help improve upon these figures in the years
to come.
Figure C-7: Using international best practices as a basis for reforms
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iv. Formalizing corporate governance policies and procedures
Corporate governance reforms are ultimately based on changes in behavior—commitment,
integrity, objectivity, courage, and vigilance, to name but a few—notably those of shareholders,
directors, and managers. Such behaviora l change does not always occur overnight. Culture is
process over time. 14 As a result, explicit changes to a company’s governance policies, procedures,
and processes can positively affect its culture over time—and with it the behavior of its agents.
Figure C-8 demonstrates th a t wh ile most companies choose to use by-laws to formalize the ir
corporate governance practices, the use of a company-level code of corporate governance (36.5%)
or code of eth ics (49.3%) is not wide-spread.
Figure C-8: Formalizing corporate governance
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Did you know that in 2004, 96% of the FORTUNE 1,000 companies in the US stated th a t
their boards had written guidelines on corporate governance (compared with 71% in 2002)?
The practice is also gaining broader acceptance in other countries, such as in France where
54% of boards have adopted formal board guidelines in 2004, compared to 36% in 2003.15

The adoption of new and periodic revisions to existing
corporate governance documents constitutes an
important time-commitment from the board and senior
management. Neverthe less, policies and procedures
should be drafted and kept up to date, as they play an
important role in the day-to-day conduct of th e
business and in forming the culture of the business.
Indeed, as well as supporting the consistent
application of policies, procedures and internal
controls, written documentation helps banks and
companies allocate responsibilities and authorities;
reinforces accountability in the event of performance
or compliance fa ilure; and improve upon internal and
external communication.

Figure C-9: What to formalize
 Articles of association
 Company governance code
 Code of ethics and/or conduct
 Charters for the:
- General assembly
- Board of directors
- Board committees
- Executive board
 Policies and procedures on:
- Dividends
- Information disclosure
- Risk management & internal controls
- Internal audit
- Compliance
 Terms of reference for:
- Chief executive officer
- Chief financial officer
- Head of internal audit
- Company secretary
Other senior managers

The process of reviewing and updating needs to be
integrated into the job description of the designated
corporate governance champion. Figure C-9 above
conta ins a comprehensive list of policies and procedures th a t a company may wish to codify to
ensure effective and efficient decision-making and communication across the organization.
Banks and listed companies may find it beneficia l to publish their corporate governance code,
board and committee charters, and codes of conduct on their website, as well as references to
these in the annual report. Institutional investors and ratings agencies are looking increasingly
a t the sta te of a bank’s corporate governance when making the ir assessments. Published
information is frequently the ir only source of comfort, short of directly questioning the bank or
listed company.
Did you know that eth ica l breaches by management or employees caused 37% of highprofile business fa ilures in Europe? A recent study of 60 European cases of formal bankruptcy
or stock price free fall shows th is remarkable impact of eth ica l lapses. 16 In a large number of
these cases, a dominant shareholder or manager with big ambitions acted uneth ically, and
h is/her actions went uncha llenged by the company and by the board. Formal corporate
governance codes and codes of eth ics can help guard against uneth ica l behavior in companies.
A formal performance review of the CEO by the board of directors can also help root out
eth ica l problems before they lead to business failures.

15

31st Annual Board of Directors Study, Korn/Ferry International, 2004.

16

“Classification and Analysis of Major European Business Failures”, Maastricht Accounting, Auditing & Information
Management Research Center, RSM Erasmus University. October 2005
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Finally, it is important not to confuse substance with form. Directors and senior managers do not
simply go through the motions and follow the form of good corporate governance; they need to
understand their proper roles and responsibilities, and act in accordance with the precepts of
good corporate governance. In the end, corporate governance is as much about behavior as it is
about processes and procedures.

v. Assigning responsibility for corporate governance
Just under ha lf of surveyed banks (47%) and listed companies (49%) assign the responsibility for
corporate governance policies to the board—in-line with good practice.
The board’s responsibility does not, however, end just by drafting the general corporate
governance policy but also in monitoring its compliance. Indeed, best practice calls for boards to
create corporate governance committees and task them with eva luating, planning and overseeing
the implementation of corporate governance reforms. Only 13% of listed companies and 10% of
banks have such corporate governance committees; 18% of listed companies and 16% of banks do
not assign th is responsibility to any corporate body or person.
Figure C-10: Assigning responsibility for corporate governance
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Figure C-10 reveals th at three important figures do not appear to play a role in developing,
implementing, and monitoring corporate governance improvements. Indeed, only a sma l l
minority of banks and companies involve the CEO, board cha irman, and company secretary in
developing corporate governance frameworks. All do, however, have an important role to play.
 Role of CEO and chairman: The CEO and board cha irman generate the leadersh ip and drive
essentia l for corporate governance reforms to succeed. Th is is sometimes referred to as “the
tone at the top”. Best practice is for the cha irman and CEO to put corporate governance issues
on the board’s agenda, and encourage a frank and open discussion. The cha irman and CEO
should seek to educate board members on the importance of corporate governance, on its
benefits, and the respective roles of various parties. They should start a process of
evaluation, assessment, and improvement. Th is process should become iterative so th at good
corporate governance processes and procedures become ingrained. It is imperative th a t both
lead by example, as corporate governance reforms initia ted by one without the support of t he
other are likely to fa il.
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Role of company secretary: Best practice is to provide resources and assign responsibility to a
corporate governance champion, idea lly to a professional company secretary (or for smaller
firms the legal counsel who may double as company secretary), who should be made
responsible for developing, implementing, and periodica lly reviewing corporate governance
rela ted documentation, under the supervision board through its cha irman or corporate
governance committee. The company secretary serves as the focal point for communications
with and between the board, senior management, and the bank’s shareholders, and acts as
the ch ief advisor to the board on all corporate governance matters. (More information on the
role of the company secretary can be found in Section II.iv.c on page 36).

Did you know that a survey of 400 companies in the US revealed th at the company
secretary is responsible for compliance and governance, and th a t 16% even have created
the position of chief governance officer? 17
vi. Understanding barriers to reform
Figure C-11 shows how important it is to tra in or impart corporate governance know-how to
assist companies in implementing corporate governance reforms. Fifty three percent (53%) of
banks and 38% of listed companies stated th a t the main barrier to implementing corporate
governance is “a lack of qualif ied specia lists”. Similarly, 47% of banks and 43% of listed
companies cited “a lack of information and know-how” as a barrier to implementing corporate
governance.
Figure C-11: Barriers to implementing corporate governance
52.86%

Lack of qualified specialists to help with implementation

37.66%

Lack of information/ know how

42.86%
31.43%

Corporate governance is a low priority in comparison to other tasks

19.48%
12.86%

Governance - related information is a commercial secret

23.38%

Implementation of western corporate governance standards in the country
could lead to signiﬁcant risks

10.00%
10.39%
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7.14%
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The local corporate legislation is contrary to the international standards
The company/bank does not perceive any beneﬁt in adopting corporate governance

47.14%

1.43%
3.90%
Listed companies
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Regulators should consider whether to strongly recommend or mandate corporate governance
tra ining for all individuals who serve on a board. To prevent regulatory action in th is are a,
banks and listed companies should encourage the ir directors and senior managers to undertake
tra ining on corporate governance and other rela ted topics, such as for example on finance and
accounting or risk management. (Additional information on boardroom tra ining can be found in
Section II.vi.b. on page 40).

17

A survey of 400 corporate secretaries, general counsels and other governance professionals conducted in 2005 by the
Society of Corporate Secretaries and Governance Professionals.
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vii. Looking ahead: priorities for corporate governance reforms
Figure C-12 depicts three priority reform areas th at banks and companies intend to implement in
the future: (i) to establish board committees; (ii) to implement IFRS; and (iii) to draft a
company-level corporate governance code. The corpora te governance code is an excellent starting
point for corporate governance reforms, as it allows the company to define its own unique set of
corporate governance principles.
Figure C-12: Corporate governance reform priorities
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Of note is th at an important percentage of listed companies are interested in nominating
independent directors to the board (49%), as well as introducing procedures on conflicts of interest
and related party transactions (43%), both of which are key elements to an effective corporate
governance framework, whereas only 23% respectively 26% of banks plan on doing so.
II. Implementing good board practices
When you sweep the stairs, you always start from the top.18
The board is where key corporate governance issues converge. The board is responsible for strategic
guidance and oversight of management, and functions as a trustee for shareholders. These are
important responsibilities, and the means by which the board organizes itself are an important
factor in determining how well it fulfils its responsibilities. A professional, independent, and
vigilant board is essentia l for good corporate governance. Ultimately, the board can neither
substitute for ta lented professional managers, nor can it change the economic environment in which
a company operates. It can, however, influence th e company’s performance and susta inabili ty
through its guidance to, and oversight of management.
i. The role of the board
Although specific board authorities will vary by country based on legal traditions, virtually a l l
international and national codes of corporate governance agree th a t the overarch ing role of the
board is to strategically guide and oversee management, as well as to ensure th a t a robust
corporate governance framework is in place.
18

A German proverb.
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a. The board’s role in reviewing and approving company strategy
An overwhelming majority of respondents (93% of banks and 87% of listed companies, see Figure
C-13) stated th at the board was responsible for setting company strategy. The process of setting
strategy is also assumed by the CEO in almost a quarter of the banks and listed companies
surveyed (21% and 30%, respectively).
Managers
with
the ir
industry Figure C-13: Setting corporate strategy
knowledge and resources are, however,
best placed to develop and then
100%
implement strategies, wh ile directors
with their experience and objectivity in
50%
turn are best positioned to review,
challenge, and ultimately approve
these
strategies,
in
particular
0%
objectives and corresponding key
Board
CEO
performance indicators.
Banks

93.00%

21.10%

GMS
4.20%

The development of strategy is a
87.00%
29.90%
3.90%
Listed
complex, diff icult, and time-consuming
companies
exercise th a t is rightly the primary
89.90%
25.70%
4.10%
Aggregated
responsibility
of
the
executive,
Banks
Listed companies
Aggregated
a lthough some boards have done well
to formulate h igh- level strategies to
effectively guide management in
strategic decision-making. Directors and managers would be well served to openly discuss and
agree on their respective roles with respect to the strategic decision-making process.
b. The board’s role in overseeing management
The second principle role of the board is to oversee management. The primary means of doing so is
to request management to report back to the board on its implementation of strategy and a deﬁned

set of key performance indicators. In addition, selecting and, when necessary, replacing the CEO
constitutes an important ﬁrst step in deﬁning the relationship between the board and CEO.
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Figure C-14 shows th a t a vast majority of boards in MENA do select and dismiss the CEO.
S ixteen percent (16%) of respondents cited th a t the general assembly elected and dismissed the
CEO, wh ich arguably runs counter to good corporate governance as it may well undermine the
authority of the board.
Figure C-14: Electing and dismissing the CEO
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As for the other key executives and managers, results show th at the ir selection is entitled ceteris
paribus a responsibility either of the board or the CEO (see Figure C-15). Best practice calls for
the CEO to select h is or her management team, however, for the board to establish appropria te
parameters ex ante—for example on qualif ication requirements and remuneration levels—and ex
post—for example in approving final candidates.
Figure C-15: Electing and dismissing other key executives
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Setting a succession policy and overseeing succession planning by management is an important
function of the board, as it a llows a company to develop and change leadersh ip in a systemic,
progressive, and non-disruptive manner. Simply nominating a deputy does not constitute best
practice in succession planning, as it fa ils to capture the systematic development of ta lent
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with in the company. Succession plans should be in
place for all key executives, in particular the CEO
and CFO, but also for directors and the board
chairman.

Figure C-16: Approving
succession plans
13%

Results shown in Figure C-16 offer a positive picture in

that 77% of boards feel responsible for approving
succession plans of key executives.

However, these

28%

results should not be misinterpreted to mean that

succession plans beyond naming a deputy are actually in

77%

place in most companies in the region. Indeed, as can be
seen in Section D.II.ii below (see page 69), only 29% of

family-owned enterprises have succession plans in

place, and qualitative data from the interview process

Board

CEO

GMS

suggest that most respondents have simply named
deputies as successors.

a. The board’s role in implementing corporate governance structures, policies, and practices

ii. Board composition

In order to effectively fulfill the board’s role, directors should be qualif ied, h ave a cle ar
understanding of their duty to the company and all sh areholders, and be able to exercise sound,
objective, and independent judgment. Th is can be achieved by different means and approaches
to the board’s size and composition.
a. Board size
Having either too few or too many directors can be a problem for effective decision-making. A
board with too few members may not a llow the company to benefit from an appropriate mix-ofskills and breadth of experience. A larger board, on the other hand, is typically diff icult to
manage, and can make consensus-building time consuming and difficult. The cha l lenge in
selecting the correct board size is strik ing an appropriate balance with in the framework
mandated by law. The size of the board should thus enable a company to hold productive and
constructive discussions and make prompt and real decisions.
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Figure C-17: Board size
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The majority of boards in MENA have eight or more members (see Figure C-18). Bank boards
are usually composed of ten or more members, while th e boards of listed companies typica lly
h ave eight to ten. These numbers appear to be in-line with best practice, if slightly above the
norm.
b. Identifying the right mix of executive, non-executive and independent directors
Companies can benefit from having an appropria te mix of executive, non-executive, and
independent directors on their boards. In defining the right mix for the board, it is important to
understand the roles executive, non-executive, and independent directors play.
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Table C-2 summarizes these roles:

Non-executive directors

Executive directors

Table C-2: The role of executive, non-executive, and independent directors
Definition: An executive director holds an operational position in the
company. The executives th a t one typica lly f inds on boards are the CEO and
CFO.
Role: Executives are inevitably best informed on the state of the business and
the cha l lenges it faces, since they confront the problems every day. They are
a lso ultimately responsible for the operating results of the company and may
add tremendous va lue to the board given the ir understanding of the bank or
company and industry expertise.
Definition: Non-executive directors are board members th at do not hold an
executive position in the company. A non-executive director may or may not be
independent.
Role: Current th inking is th at the ta lent and skills of non-executive directors
who are not technica lly independent are being overlooked or rejected purely
on formal grounds. Non-executive directors may contribute: (i) an outside
perspective and greater impartia lity in their judgments; (ii) additiona l
external experience and knowledge; and (iii) useful contacts.

Independent directors

Definition: An independent director is a director who has no materia l
rela tionship with the company beyond his or her directorsh ip. An
independent director should be independent in character and judgment, and
there should be no rela tionships or circumstances which could affect, or migh t
appear to affect, the director’s independent judgment.
Role: The purpose of identify ing and electing independent directors is to
ensure th at the board includes individuals who can effectively exercise best
judgment for the exclusive benefit of the company and all shareholders,
whose judgment is not clouded by personal interest or loyalties and either rea l
or perceived conflicts of interest. Independent directors are best able to assess
situations openly, and bring an objective and unbiased view to discussions,
without the fear of possible retribution.

As may be inferred from Figures C-18 through C-20, boards in the MENA region appear to be
rela tively well-balanced, with most boards consisting of a hea lthy mix of executive and nonexecutive directors, complemented with a few independent directors. However, experience on
the ground and qualita tive results from the one-on-one interview process appears to tell a
different ta le, with boards in some MENA countries (in particular the Mashrek region) being
dominated by executives, with boards in other countries (in particular the GCC region) being
exclusively composed of non-executive directors (and, in aggregate, portray ing a balanced mix of
director types th at may not exist in practice).
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Figure C-18: Number of non-executive directors
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Figure C-19: Number of executive directors
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Figure C-20: Number of independent directors
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However, the survey is clear on the subject of independence: 57.6% of all listed companies and
54.3% of banks only h ave a single, or no independent director on their board, a lt hough t he
presence of independent directors has become a condition sine qua non for good corporate
governance.
Did you know that an average of ten independent directors—constituting 80% of the board—
sit on the boards of S &P 500 companies operating in the financia l industry in the US. 19 This
is partly the result of the listing rules of the NYSE and NASDAQ th a t a majority of
directors be “independent”.
Though greater independence is h igh ly desirable, especia lly for listed firms, th is
requirement may be unrealistic in MENA. It is essentia l to have some independent directors,
but a majority might not be feasible, at least in th e short to medium term. Any simil ar
requirement imposed by the regulator should take into account, amongst other th ings, t he
ownership structure, the local culture, and the pool of qualif ied independent directors. A
minimum of three independent directors to cha ir key board committees—the audit,
nominations and remuneration committees—might be an appropria te benchmark for
regulators to strive for.

c. Identifying the right mix-of-skills for the board
Independence is not a panacea. Other skills such as expertise and experience, and
characteristics such as integrity and loyalty, are just as important to complete the board—
qualities th a t help the board collectively act as a va luable advisor to the executive.

19

The Spenser Stuart Board Index, 2005.
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female director. On the other h and, one th ird of listed companies had at least one or more
female board members, a small but important step in ba lancing the boardroom.
Figure C-22: Number of women on the board
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Did you know that empirical evidence shows th a t UK-based companies with fema le
directors scored signif icantly h igher in corporate governance (and hence in long-term
performance) th an companies with all-ma le boards. 20

iii. Board structure
a. Separating the position of board chairman and CEO
Companies operating in some countries, in particular the US and France have traditional ly
combined the positions of board cha irman and CEO, citing improved leadersh ip and eff iciency
as the main rationale for doing so. Combining these two roles is, however, not considered best
practice. Indeed, most leading corporate governance codes call for a separation of the role of
chairman and CEO, citing the need for effective board oversight over management, wh ich is
next-to-impossible due to the inherent conflict when combining the two positions. A nonexecutive cha irman is a lso likely to be more
Figure C-23: Is the position of CEO and
inquisitive in guiding the board in fulfil ling its
chairman held by the same person?
main functions, in particular strategic oversigh t,
35%
and is idea lly placed to counter the (potentia l)
short-term focus of the CEO with an outside and
long-term perspective. The main argument for
separating these two functions is th a t the roles of
65%
the cha irman and the CEO are fundamental ly
different, requiring different skills and
Y es
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The Female FTSE Report 2004, Canﬁeld University School of Management. The study used 13 indicators to measure
corporate governance in relation to gender diversity.
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characteristics: while the CEO runs the business, the ch a irman runs the board.
A significant majority of respondents (65%) state th a t both positions are held by different
individuals, in-line with best practice (see Figure C-23). In particular banks (72.2%) follow best
practice, presumably due to centra l bank regulations to th is effect. In contrast, 42.3% of listed
companies continue to combine these two functions.
b. Companies operating in some countries, in Establishing board committees
The demands on a board continue to increase as markets globalize, regulation becomes more
complex and as companies grow. Board committees can be an effective method of dea ling wit h
these cha llenges, and appropriate committees should permit the board to: (i) h andle a greater
number of issues in a more efficient manner by allowing experts to focus on specif ic areas and
develop recommendations for the board as a whole; (ii) develop subject-specif ic expertise on the
company’s operations, for example on financia l reporting, risk management, and interna l
controls; and (iii) enhance the objectivity and independence of the board’s judgment, insulating
it from potentia l undue influence of managers and controlling shareholders, in such key areas as
remuneration, director nomination, and manageria l oversight.
There is a great variety of committees a board may adopt. The three principal committees for
the purpose of corporate governance are the audit, nomination (often called the nominations and
corporate governance committee), and remuneration committees. Each of these committees
should idea lly be entirely composed of independent directors. At a minimum, these committees
should be cha ired by an independent director with th e remaining members being non-executives.
It is important to note th a t even if the board delegates some of its authorities to a committee,
the board remains the ultimate decision-making authority, and reta ins responsibility for a l l
board decisions. Should committees require outside advice, they should be in a position to h ire
outside expertise to advise them on specif ic issues, such as studies on remuneration levels for
executives. External advisors should not however become full members of board committees as
they are not board members.
W hen board committees are established, their mandate, composition and working procedures
should be well defined and disclosed by the board.
Figure C-24 below summarizes the percentage of boards th a t h ave put these three core
committees in place. The h igh presence of audit committees (77.9%) is a positive sign; however,
we find th at only 26.4% of these committees are composed of a majority of independent
directors, in-line with good corporate governance. Nominations (22.7%) and remuneration
(28.3%) committees are less preva lent in the region.
Figure C-24: Board committees established
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Did you know that 100% of SAP 500 boards now have an audit committee composed entire ly
of independent directors; th a t 100% also have a remuneration committee, nearly a ll of wh ich
are composed of independent directors; and th a t 98.5% of boards have a
nominating/corporate governance committee, and nearly a ll committee members are
independent directors? 21

iv. Working procedures
a. The board agenda and briefing materials
The board agenda determines the issues under discussion during board meetings. It is general ly
put together under the leadersh ip of the cha irman by the company secretary, with input from
other directors and the CEO. It is the cha irman’s duty to offer directors and the CEO t he
opportunity to suggest items, with in reason, and any director can and should request th a t t he
chairman includes a matter on the board agenda. The board agenda should strike a balance
between reviews of past performance (e.g., financial sta tements) and forward-looking issues
(e.g., strategy).
The board agenda, a long with other key materia ls, should be combined in a board brief ing book
and forwarded to all board members at least five business days in advance of the board meeting.
As can be seen from Figure C-25, the materia ls th a t are included in the board brief ing book and
then forwarded to board members appear to be complete in the majority of cases.
Figure C-25: Board briefing materials distributed to directors
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The Spencer Stuart Board Index, 2005.
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Figure C-26 shows th a t the majority of banks and companies provide such information one to two
weeks before the board meeting, in-line with good practice.
Figure C-26: Timeliness of distributing board briefing materials
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b. Meeting frequency
Board meetings should be held regularly, at least four times in a year. As a rule of thumb and
in-line with best practice, six to ten meetings are likely to constitute an appropria te number of
board meetings in a year, in particular when committees meet between board sessions.
Figure C-27 and Figure C-28 show th a t significant differences between banks and listed
companies exist. On the one hand, 46% of banks answered th a t the board met an average of
three to five times per year, and 21% stated th a t th ey met between six and nine times. Only
27% of banks’ boards meet ten to 12 times per year, in-line with best practice. Sixty percent
(60%) of listed companies responded th a t they met on a quarterly basis and only 15% met
between six to nine times per year (see Figure C-27).
Figure C-27: Meeting frequency – listed
companies
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Figure C-28: Meeting frequency – banks
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c. The role of the company secretary
Many companies have a secretary to the board; few have professional company secretaries. The
company secretary can play a signif icant role in professionalizing the work of the board and in
improving corporate governance practices. Indeed, professional company secretaries usually
h ave legal backgrounds, understand
Figure C-29: The function of the company secretary
corporate and securities law, h ave
sufficient
business
knowledge
to
7%
11%
understand the company's business, and
45%
h ave strong interpersonal skills th a t
22%
a llow them to help the cha irman steer
boards.
The company secretary is accountable to
and supervised by the board to sh ield
h im or her from undue influence from
management.

38%
The secretary is an employee of the company/bank
Yes, on a part-time basis
Yes, on a full-time basis

The majority of respondents stated th a t
The board does not have a company secretary
the company secretary is an employee
The secretary is a member of the board
(45%), or a part-time employee (38%),
which wh ile appropria te for smaller companies, may not be appropriate for banks and larger
publicly listed companies due to the lack of time they can allocate to board and governance
matters (see also Figure C-29). The company secretary should not also be a board member.
v. Remuneration policy
a. Non-executive and independent director remuneration
Non-executive and independent directors should be remunerated for the ir board duties. The
most common form of remuneration for non-executive and independent directors is an annual fee,
part or all of wh ich should be linked to meeting attendance. The annual or meeting fee payable
to directors should be the same for a ll non-executive and independent directors. Additional fees
should be paid for additional responsibilities, such as committee membership or for cha iring
the board or board committees.
Setting an appropria te level of remuneration is important to safeguard the status of
independent directors in th at the ir judgment could be clouded if they receive a significant
percentage of the ir tota l income in the form of a director’s fee. As can be seen from Figure C-30,
42.9% of companies do not pay the ir directors an attendance fee. Only 16.1% of non-executives
receive additional remuneration for serving on committees and only 11.3% receive fees for
chairing the board.
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Figure C-30: Board remuneration structure and practices
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Only 3.6% of banks and companies offer their non-executive directors stock options.

Did you know th at performance and stock-based remuneration is typica lly not offered to nonexecutive directors? Linking non-executives remuneration to company performance can be
diff icult, as non-executives are not directly responsible for the day-to-day management—and
hence performance—of the company.

Of particular importance is the question of who approves non-executive remuneration. As
shown in Figure C-31, a signif icant majority of respondents (63%) assign th is responsibility to
shareholders, with a slight difference between banks (69%) and listed companies (59%). Best
practice would call for the board’s independent remuneration committee to set a policy and
appropriate remuneration levels, and then to disclose both the policy and remuneration levels
to shareholders.
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Figure C-31: Approving non-executive remuneration
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b. Executive director remuneration
The remuneration of executives should be aligned with the long–term interests of the company
and its shareholders. In order to do so, best practice calls for the board to develop a
remuneration policy th a t specif ies the rela tionship between remuneration and performance,
and a lso includes measurable standards th a t are based on the company’s objectives and key
performance indicators.
W hen considering key performance indicators, the board and its remuneration committee may
wish to consider financia l indicators—for example return of equity or economic va lue added—as
well as non-financial indicators—wh ich for example may focus on: (i) customer satisfaction
levels or retention rates; (ii) operational processes and quality measures; and (iii) interna l
growth, knowledge management, and training programs, as well as employee satisfaction rates.
As can be seen from Figure C-30 , the use of variable remuneration packages is, surprisingly, limited

in the MENA region, with 53.8% of respondents citing that they do not offer their executives variable
packages. Stock options, too, are not commonly used and only 9.8% of executives and 3.6% of

non-executives have such plans. And while the fact that banks and companies do not offer their
non-executives stock options is in-line with best practice, there is an argument to be made for
compensating executives with such options, so-long as they are restricted over time, are not
structured to induce short-term behavior, and do not dilute ownership.

As a rule, executive directors do not receive additi onal remuneration for their work on the
board. In MENA, 39% of executives do, however, receive board fees.
Finally, banks and companies typically do not offer the ir executives with pension or insurance
benefits, both of wh ich are considered long-term incentives th a t may help tie key executives to
the company.
Setting executive remuneration policies falls under the board’s—and not management’s—
authority, with the board ideally acting on the recommendations of an independent
remuneration committee.
The great majority of respondents cited th at the board is indeed responsible for executive
remuneration (85%), with a slight difference between banks (81 %) and listed companies (89%) ,
as depicted in Figure C-32.
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As previously mentioned, only 29.3% h ave remuneration committees, and only 10.3% are
composed of a majority of independent directors. Overa ll, 16% of general meetings appear to
either directly vote on pay levels or policies, or have a ‘say on pay’, wh ich is a UK-sty le
annual advisory (non-binding) vote on compensation; and alt hough it may not be desirable to
h ave shareholders setting, or even approving executive remuneration, offering them a nonbinding vote may send a powerful message to executives. When stock options are offered,
shareholders should, however, have a binding vote due to the possibility of dilution.
Figure C-32: Approving executive remuneration
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vi. Board evaluation and training
a. Board evaluation
Board eva luations can play an important role in improving the effectiveness and efficiency of
the board’s work. Moreover, it demonstrates th a t th e board itself is not above evaluation and
sets the appropriate “tone at the top”. And in the same manner th at executives benefit from an
annual eva luation against performance objectives, boards too can benefit from an eva luation
process.
Figure C-33: Conducting board evaluations
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Did you know that in 2003, board eva luation for listed UK companies was introduced by t he
Combined Code on Corporate Governance? Simila r rules were introduced in 2004 for
companies listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), as well as across Europe through
various national corporate governance codes. The result h as been impressive: According to a
recent survey, 22 86% of UK boards are instituting formal full board performance evaluations,
as have 75% of responding German directors. Just over ha lf (52%) of those respondents who
sit on the boards of French companies state they undergo a formal review.
In comparison, and as indicated in Figure C-33, only 20% of banks and 15% of listed companies
conduct evaluations.
b. Board induction training on corporate governance
In a global and increasingly complex economy, the range of issues th a t directors need to be
informed about is daunting and ever-growing. For th is reason it is increasingly viewed as a
necessity to provide induction training to new board members, but also to provide opportunities
to update knowledge and refresh skills through continuous professional education.
A well thought out induction process is important for all new directors and, particularly, for
non-executive directors. A h a llmark of a company committed to good corporate governance and
a feature of most corporate governance codes (e.g., the UK Combined Code, Dutch, French,
Swedish, and NYSE listing rules) is a process of induction to the board for new directors.
Induction programs are typica lly offered by the company and focus on the company’s strategy,
operations, and governance. The task of organizing th e induction tra ining is frequently assigned
to the corporate secretary.
c. Board training on corporate governance
In addition to induction training, it is increasingly common for companies to offer on-going
tra ining th at may be provided in-house or externally. Nobody is too senior or experienced not to
benefit from continuing professional development.
Results show th a t director tra ining,
whether in the form of orientation or
on-going tra ining, remains scarce
throughout the MENA region in th a t
only 15.3% of respondents offer
corporate governance rela ted training to
their directors (see Figure C-34).

Figure C-34: Providing corporate governance training
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Did you know that two-th irds of surveyed boards in the United Sta tes do have forma l
programs for director tra ining with in the ir companies? Fifty percent (50%) of board members
are either encouraged or required to participate in director education outside the boardroom.23
III. Building a robust control environment and processes
A strong control environment is needed to complement independent, professional and vigilant
boards, thus providing companies and their shareholders with a reasonable level of assurance t h a t
the likeli hood of misstatements, mismanagement, fraud, or other abuses are minimized. One of the
key duties of the board is to set policies with respect to and oversee management’s implementation
of the company’s control environment, in particular as regards risk management, internal controls,
and the external and internal audit. The principa l means by which the board oversees the control
environment is through the audit committee. Wh il e management is responsible for establish ing
and implementing effective risk and control procedures, it is the board th at remains accountable to
shareholders for the effectiveness of the company’s control environment.
i. Risk management
Companies th a t effectively manage risk are likelier to see profits over the long run whi le
companies th a t are overly cautious in the ir risk ta king may well miss opportunities and are
unlikely to succeed over the longer
Figure C-35: Presence of a risk function
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Figure C-36: Overseeing the risk management system
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management function follow best practice in th a t the board oversees risk management as
implemented by management. Indeed, directors are responsible for setting the risk appetite and
policies, and managers for ensuring th at a ll risks are identif ied, eva luated, and suitably
managed.
ii. Internal controls
Directors are a lso responsible for overseeing the adequacy of the internal control environment
and processes, as set by management, and for reviewing the ir effectiveness. Procedures should
h ave been designed by management for the purpose of: (i) safeguarding assets against
unauthorized use or disposition; (ii) maintaining proper accounting records; and (iii) ensuring for the
reliability of financial information.
Did you know that fraud costs U.S. organizations more th an $400 billion annually, or an
average organization loss of 6% of revenues? A study24 found th a t fraud and abuse costs
employers an average of $9 a day per employee and th a t small businesses are the most
vulnerable. Of interest is th a t most fraud is not discovered during routine audits, but instead
most cases are exposed by wh istleblowers. The study found tha t prevention, i.e., a robust
control framework, is in fact the most cost effective defense.

Figure C-37: Presence of an internal control function
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Did you know th a t many directors do not request a copy of the external auditor’s ‘management
letter’? This could be because they confuse the management letter with the auditor's opinion.
A director’s first glimpse of wha t goes on in the internal controls of a company can be found in
the management letter. The auditor's opinion expresses the view of the independent externa l
auditors on whether the financia l sta tements ha ve been prepared in accordance wit h
applicable standards and accurately reflects the financia l condition of the company. The
management letter is intended to let the company know what possible weaknesses in the
company's internal controls and systems came to the a ttention of the auditors in the course of
their work, and what steps the auditors recommend be taken. It is most likely with in t he
audit committee's duty of care to read management letters and to follow-up the
implementation of the ir recommendations by management.

iii. Compliance
Compliance means compliance with the conduct of business rules imposed by laws and
regulations, as well as internal rules and procedures.
Most banks (64%) h ave a compliance function in place; unsurprisingly, only 23% of listed
companies reported having a compliance function (see Figure C-39). And while compliance can
play an important role for all businesses, it plays a particularly important role for banks, as
banks rely on staff following a deta iled set of policies and procedures, requiring full compliance
to protect aga inst mismanagement or fraud. Most central bank regulations require banks to h a ve
a compliance function, and banks and their regulators should strive towards full compliance.
The internal audit’s role is to evaluate
and assess the effectiveness and
adequacy of the company’s risk
management, internal control, and
corporate governance processes and
procedures.
Internal audit is not
responsible for ensuring th at t he
company is compliant with internal or
external requirements.
This is
management’s responsibility, wh ich
typica lly appoints a compliance officer.

Figure C-39: Presence of a compliance function
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Unlike internal audit, compliance is not
generally an independent function. It typica lly reports to the company’s senior executive
management, though best practice calls for compliance officers to increasingly report directly to
the board and its audit committee as well. The audit committee has a responsibility to
understand and oversee the compliance process. Thus, many compliance officers also have a dua l
reporting line to a senior manager or the CEO and the board’s audit committee. From a legal and
reputational risk perspective, it is very important th a t the board receives regular updates from
the compliance officer as to the state of affa irs.
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iv. The internal audit
Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add
va lue and improve an organization’s operations. It helps an organization accomplish its
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to eva luating and improving the
effectiveness of risk management, control and corpora te governance processes.25 A progressive
internal audit function plays a critica l role in providing executive management and the board
with an objective and comprehensive view of the business processes, identify ing risk and
controls, and valida ting tha t the controls are effective in mitigating risk.
Figure C-40 shows th a t the great majority of banks (85%) and listed companies (92%) h ave an
internal audit function.
Figure C-40: Presence of an internal audit function
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(76%) follow best practice, with the board overseeing the internal audit function. However, because

few audit committees in the region are composed of a majority of independent directors, the CIA’s
independence may be jeopardized in practice.

Figure C-41: Overseeing the internal audit function
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Did you know that a useful starting point for identifying leading internal audit practices
and for benchmarking the organization’s audit function against these is the guidance and
standards issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA)? The audit committee should
ensure th a t internal audit function has sufficient resources to meet the standards required by
the IIA and (as recommended by the IIA), subject the internal audit function to an
independent assessment every five years. Companies may further wish to consider allowing
their internal auditors to receive a certif icate from the IIA.

v. The external audit
Figure C-42: Presence of an external auditor
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Professional standards require the external auditor to state whether, in the ir opinion, t he
financia l statements are presented in conformity with an underlying accounting principle or
standard, and to identify those circumstances in which such standards have not been consistently
observed in the preparation of the f inancial sta tements. As can be seen from Figure C-42 above,
91% of those surveyed had an external auditor. Figure C-43 shows th a t the great majority of
these constituted international audit firms.
Figure C-43: Nature of the external auditor
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Did you know that the independence of the external auditor has become a centra l corporate
governance concern in the wake of a number of European and US scandals? To deal with t he
skewed incentives which may arise with a conflicted external auditor, a number of countries
now call for disclosure of payments to external auditors for non-audit services. Examples of
other provisions to underpin auditor independence include, a tota l ban or severe limita tion
on the nature of non-audit work, wh ich can be undertaken by an auditor for the ir audit
client, mandatory rotation of auditors (either partners or in some cases the audit
partnersh ip), a temporary ban on the employment of an ex-auditor by the audited company,
and proh ibiting auditors or their dependents from ha ving a financial stake or management
role in the companies they audit. Some countries ta ke a more direct regulatory approach
and limit the percentage of non-audit income th a t the auditor can receive from a particular
client or limit the tota l percentage of auditor income th a t can come from one client.
a. Rotating audit firms or partners
Suggestions to improve auditor independence often include the rotation of either the audit
partner or the f irm itself after a certa in period, typica lly between five and seven years.
Rotation is important because it prevents the externa l auditor from developing an excessively
close rela tionship with the client, wh ich may eventually compromise the auditors’ necessary
independence.
However, some critics of auditor rotation suggest th a t it can also cause audit fa ilure. An auditor
th a t h as taken a new assignment is typically unfamiliar with the business and most likely to
commit errors during the first year of the audit. Moreover, many will argue tha t audit firm
rotation may actually be counter productive in some emerging markets, where there may be a
limited number of qualif ied audit f irms, in particular for audits of financial institutions; and
rotating these firms would run counter to the interests of shareholders.
The idea of audit firm or partner rotation is not practiced by banks and listed companies: of
those surveyed, only 32% have an audit-rotation policy in place and 53% of respondents had not
changed their external auditor in the previous five years (see Figure C-44).

Most international audit ﬁrms have their own audit partner rotations in place; the board will,
however, wish to assure itself that its auditor follows this best practice.

Figure C-44: Reasons for rotating the external auditor
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b. Suggestions to improve Providing other, non-audit services
Figure C-45 shows th a t a slight majority of external auditors (51%) do not provide their clients
with any other services th a t may jeopordize their independence, in-line with best practice.
Only a small minority provide legal services (14%) or business consulting (13%), wh ich could run
counter to the notion of auditor independence should the fees generated from such services be
materia l in rela tion to the audit fee. Tax consulting, provided by 39% of auditors, is typica lly
not considered a major source of business income for the external auditor.
Figure C-45: Additional services provided by the external auditor
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c. Nominating the external auditor
Best practice calls for the board’s audit committee to conduct a competitive bidding process for
the external auditor, the board to then nominate and shareholders to fina lly approve t he
appointment of the external auditor. And while 69% of banks and listed companies a llow the ir
shareholders to appoint the external auditor, 36% of respondents stated that the appointment of
the external audit firm is a competence of the board (see also Figure C-46).
Figure C-46: Appointing the external auditors
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vi. The audit committee
The audit committee’s primary responsibilities are to: (i) review and report to the board t he
most critica l accounting policies, wh ich are the basis for financia l reports; (ii) help the board
establish internal control policies; (iii) oversee th e company’s internal audit function; (iv)
ensure for an effective compliance function; as well as (v) oversee the overa ll rela tionship wit h
the external auditor. Some boards request th at their audit committees support the board in
establish ing an appropriate risk management framework, a lthough banks are increasingly
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establish ing separate board-level risk committees for th is purpose. As can be seen from Figure
C-47, the role of the audit committee is broadly understood, however, the role of the committee
in overseeing the compliance function needs to be strengthened, as only 30.6% of audit committees
feel responsible for th is area.
Figure C-47: The role of the audit committee
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IV. Strengthening transparency and disclosure
Disclosure is considered to be one of the most important elements of sound corporate governance. It is
diff icult for shareholders, other stakeholders and market participants to effectively monitor and
properly hold the board and management accountable when there is a lack of transparency.
Companies th a t are transparent are thus more highly regarded and ultimate ly va lued by investors.
Disclosure and transparency is important with in the bank or listed company as well, ensuring th a t
there is proper accountability and responsibility, oversight and guidance, between shareholders,
directors, and managers.
Timely and accurate public disclosure should be proportionate to the size, complexity, ownersh ip
structure, economic significance, and risk profile of th e bank or listed company, as wel l as whether
the entity is publicly traded or not.
Did you know that 69% of 137 institutional investors in charge of some of the world’s largest
portfolios in 16 countries identified transparency as a top priority when considering an initi a l
investment? 26 Banks and listed companies would be well served to develop a clear
communications strategy, possibly a disclosure policy or investor communications function, to
ensure th a t they are providing investors the information they seek in the most effective
manner.
i. What information is being disclosed?
The corporate governance framework should ensure th a t timely and accurate disclosure is made
on all materia l matters regarding the corporation.
a. Financial disclosure
Financial disclosure encompasses the bank’s or company’s balance sheet, income statement,
statement of cash-f lows, statement of equity, and notes to the financia l statements.
As can be determined from Figure C-48 and Figure C-49, financial information is general ly
disclosed by both banks and listed companies, wh ich is likely due to the fact th at regulation in
th is area is typica lly specif ic, deta iled, and enforced. Most of those surveyed provided
financia l information to shareholders through th e local press (94.7%), general assembly
(93.4%), annual report (88%), and company’s website (85.9%), in-line with good practice.
b. Non-financial disclosure
In addition, best practice calls for the disclosure of non-financial information, in particular: ( i)
operating results; (ii) ownership and voting rights; (iii) key corporate documents, including
articles of association, relevant charters and by-laws, and policies; (iv) materia l events; and
(v) corporate governance rela ted information, for example, information on the board’s
composition and structure.
Disclosure in th is area—where legal and regulatory requirements are typica lly insufficient or
a ltogether absent—is much weaker. Results show th a t the disclosure of corporate governance
rela ted information, as well as charters and by-laws, is particularly weak among banks and
listed companies (see Figure C-48 and Figure C-49). However, it is worth noting th at a relevant
majority of companies provide th is information upon a shareholder’s request.
26

“Investors on Risk. The Need for Transparency”, Ernst & Young, 2005.
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Figure C-48: Information disclosure by banks
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As for listed companies, results are quite similar to th ose of banks except for the use of electronic
communication (e-mail and corporate website), wh ich are more frequently used by banks th an
listed companies.
Figure C-49: Information disclosure by listed companies
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ii. Where to disclose information: the use of the annual report and internet
a. Web-based disclosure
There is an increasing trend internationally to use corporate websites to disclose financia l and
non-financia l information.
Wit h respect to financia l information, as can be seen from Figure C-50 and Figure C-51, 82% of
banks but only 61% of listed companies stated th a t th eir annual report was published on their
website, wh ich typica lly (but not always) conta ins a full set of financia l information.
However, information disclosure on specific financia l statements could be improved upon, in
particular for listed companies where web-based disclosure is weak.
Figure C-50: Internet-based financial disclosed by banks
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Figure C-51: Internet-based financial disclosed by listed companies

36%

61%
Annual Report

48%

Balance Sheet
Profit and Loss Statement

51%
48%

Cash Flow Statement
Notes to Financial Statements
None of the above

53%

As for non-ﬁnancial information, an important majority, 68%, do publish their objectives, however,

disclosure in other areas remains lackluster, with few banks and listed companies publishing their

beneﬁcial owners (28.7%), dividend policies (24.7%), charters (22.7%) or remuneration (9.3%). Banks
appear to be more transparent in disclosing non-ﬁnancial information than listed companies, as can be
observed fromFigure C-52 .
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Of note is th at listed companies show a slightly h igher degree of information disclosure th an
banks, with the exception of disclosure in the area of “environmenta l, socia l, and economic
sustainability” as well as “corporate governance policies and procedures”, where banks rank
slightly h igher. Th is may be due to the secretive nature of the banking industry as a whole, as
well as the difficulty of quantify ing and qualify ing financia l information for banks, wh ich in
contrast to companies is forward looking.
iii. How best to disclose information?
The corporate governance framework should not only ensure th a t timely and accurate disclosure
is made on all materia l matters regarding the corpora tion, but th a t information is prepared and
disclosed in accordance with h igh quality standards of financia l (and non-financial) disclosure.
It is increasingly considered best practice to adopt IFRS, wh ich today are viewed as t he
accepted international standard for financia l reporting, and which improves the quality,
reliability, transparency, and comparability of financia l information, and thus improves
insight into company performance comparable across countries. As seen in Figure C-54 below,
67% of respondents stated that they disclose information based on IFRS, along with the 59.6% a lso
reporting according to local reporting standards; only 4.6% report according to US GAAP.
Figure C-54: Reporting according to International Financial Reporting Standards
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Because most central banks in MENA require the banking sector to report in accordance with IFRS, in

contrast to the market regulators, 77% of banks indicate that their ﬁnancial reporting is done in
accordance with IFRS, compared to 58% of listed companies (see Figure C- 55).

Figure C-55: Reporting according to International Financial Reporting Standards
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However, th is data should be treated with caution, as most countries in the MENA region have
not fully adopted IFRS—by issuing a law or regulation referring to IFRS as developed by t he
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)—but have either opted out of individua l
IFRS or have translated IFRS but have not updated these translations. As a consequence, not a l l
respondents th a t stated their compliance with IFRS may be actually doing so in practice.
iv. Special focus: consolidation of financial information
Complete disclosure of intra-group rela tions, transactions and their financia l terms, and
consolidated accounts is a crucia l pre-requisite to make the group’s functioning transparent.
W hen preparing consolidated accounts, companies should follow uniform accounting policies for
the parent and its subsidiaries or, if th is is not practicable, the company must disclose th is fact
and the proportion of items in the consolidated financial statements to which different policies
have been applied.
Figure C-56: Financial consolidation in groups of
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v. Who is responsible for disclosure?
Establishing the disclosure policy should be the responsibility of the board; management in turn is
responsible for implementing that plan and communicating with stakeholders under the
framework of that policy. As shown in Figure C-57, 80.6% of respondents comply with this best
practice, however, there is a significant difference when considering banks (85.3%) and listed
companies (76.1%).
Figure C 57: Approving disclosure policies
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vi. Factors preventing disclosure
The main barriers cited by banks and listed companies as to why they do not fully implement
best practice in the area of disclosure are shown in Figure C-58. Accordingly, most respondents
continue to view disclosure from a compliance point of view, rather th an an effective tool for
managing stakeholder rela tions and adding value to the ir business.
Figure C-58: Main reasons preventing disclosure
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V. Protecting shareholder rights
Shareholders are the owners of the corporation—it is their property—and it is in their interests th a t
the corporation operates and directors and managers must exercise their duties and responsibilities.
The most basic rights th a t share holders should enjoy include the right to: (i) secure methods of
ownership registration; (ii) convey or transfer shares; (ii i) obta in relevant and materia l
information on a timely and regular basis; (iv) participate and vote in general assemblies; (v) share
in the profits of the corporation; and (vi) participate in, and be sufficiently informed on,
fundamenta l decisions such as amendments to the articles of association, issuing additional shares
and conducting extraordinary transactions. 27
The quality of shareholder protection will affect the depth of capita l markets, ownersh ip
patterns, and the efficiency of a llocating resources. W here laws and corporate action are protective
of shareholders and well enforced, shareholders tend to be willing to invest the ir capita l and
financia l markets tend to be broader and more valuable.
S h areholder rights are generally provided by law and directors and managers do not have t he
right to abridge them. However, following laws and regulations by “the letter or book” rather th an
“in spirit” are two different matters, and directors and managers can influence whether and how lega l
requirements are complied with in practice.

27

From the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, 2004.
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Did you know that director should have the interests of the company and all of its
shareholders at heart? In some cases, a director nominated by a certa in share holder migh t
find th a t the ir position conflicts with th a t of other directors (and the sh areholders they
represent). Equitable treatment may not mean th a t a ll sh areholders are treated equally ;
some shareholders enjoy different rights according to the ir level of shareholding and may
h ave different goals. It does, however, imply th a t shareholders are treated fa irly and
with equal regard and respect. Th is precept conforms to the requirement th at directors act
in the best interests of a ll sh areholders and not just the company or shareholder th a t may
h ave nominated and/or elected them to the board.

i. Participating in general assembly meetings
S h areholders should have the right to participate and vote in general assemblies.
Figure C-59 shows that shareholders in the region attend general assemblies.
Figure C-59: Percentage of shareholders attending the general assembly
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The vast majority of banks and listed companies confirmed rela tively h igh attendance leve ls
during their previous general assemblies, demonstrating th a t shareholders are interested and
willing to engage with the ir companies.
It is one th ing to attend, another to actively participate in and be able to exercise basic
shareholder rights during these general assemblies, such as nominating, and then electing or
dismissing board members.
One such right is the right to vote, either in person or in absentia. The following Figure C-60
shows the mechanisms in place and ava ilable to share holders. As can be seen, voting at t he
majority of general assemblies is stil l conducted by show-of- h ands (66.2%), and only slight ly
more th at h a lf of respondents (54.3%) cited proxy voting as an alternative. At 1.3%, electronic
voting is virtually non-existent.
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Figure C-60: Voting mechanisms in place and available to shareholders
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Another basic right is the right for shareholders to elect board members. In the MENA region, Figure
C-61 demonstrates that board members are elected by shareholders in the vast majority (81%) of
banks and listed companies surveyed.
Figure C-61: Electing and dismissing board members
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However, wh ile it is good practice to a llow shareholders to vote on directorsh ips, it is a lso
considered good practice to establish a proper nomina tions process, a llowing for shareholder and
the board itself, through an independent nominations committee, to nominate directors for
shareholder approval. Of note is th a t an independent nominations committee is best placed to build
a board with an appropriate balance of executive, non-executive and independent directors, as we l l
as an appropria te mix-of-skills.
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ii. Safeguarding the right to share in the profits of the organization
S h areholders invest in companies to receive a return, and as such they hold an exclusive cla im on
the residual profits of the corporation. There are two ways in which shareholders can share in
the profits of the organization: they may benefit from capita l gains and/or receive dividends,
i.e., if the bank or company declares dividends (there is as such no right to receive dividends).
Unfortunately, there are many ways in wh ich th is fundamenta l right can be evaded or eroded,
primarily through insider dea ling, conflicts of interest, and/or related party transactions
undertaken by company insiders.
Related party transactions are not necessarily contrary to good corporate governance.
Neverthe less, rela ted party transactions are particularly vulnerable to abuse and thus require
special supervision. Best practice in th is area ca lls for rela ted party transactions to be
evaluated by non-conflicted directors to the transactions, and th at the transaction is conducted
a t “arm’s length”. Materia l rela ted party transactions may be approved by shareholders.
Proper internal disclosure of personal interests by managers and directors ex ante, as well as expost disclosure to share holders, a lso constitutes good practice. Finally, the conflicted directors
should abstain from voting on the issue at h and; best practice would further call for conflicted
directors to excuse themselves from the deliberations on that particular agenda item.
In order for the board to exercise proper oversight, it should assure itself th at there: (i) is a clear
written policy with respect to related party transactions; and (ii) are sufficient systems and
internal controls in place that will signal these transactions to the board.
As can be seen from Figure C-62, most laws or internal document require banks and listed
companies to disclose related party transactions.
Figure C-62: Mandatory disclosure of related party transactions
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As shown in Figure C-63, a number of banks (80%) and listed companies (71%) h ave established
policies on conflicts of interest and rela ted party transactions; of those th a t h ad not, only 34.7%
of respondents showed interest in developing such policies in the future.
Figure C-63: Establishing policies on conflicts of interest and related party transactions
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However, such policies are only effective when respected by managers and directors.
Unfortunately, 54.7% of respondents thought th at directors fa iled to avoid conflict of interest
situations, and tha t 62.7% used inside information for their benefit.
iii. Participating in and being sufficiently informed on fundamental decisions
One of the main functions usually assigned to the board is to control and supervise extraordinary
transactions, including major capita l expenditures, mergers and acquisitions, and divestitures.
The following Figure C-64 illustrates who has competence over the approva l of major
transactions tak ing into consideration the book va lue of company’s or banks’ assets.
Figure C-64: Approving extraordinary transactions
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A signif icant majority of the respondents, approximately 70%, sta ted th a t the ir board is
generally responsible for approving extraordinary transactions, regardless of their va lue. An
important minority sta ted th at the competence to approve extraordinary transactions above a
certain threshold, e.g., over 50% of book va lue, is assigned to the shareholders (40.8%).
And while there is much debate in the corporate governance community as to whether
shareholders are best placed to vote on such transactions, or whether instead directors working
with management and their deta iled knowledge of the situation should do so, it may well be
prudent to al low shareholders a final say on such matters.
iv. Protecting minority shareholder through pre-emptive and tag–along rights
Both pre-emptive and tag-along rights are means of promoting equitable treatment among
shareholders.
Pre-emptive rights allow a shareholder to mainta in a proportionate share of the ownersh ip of a
corporation when it issues new shares. Otherwise, th eir relative percentage of share ownership
would be diluted. In most MENA jurisdictions, an existing shareholder has the right to buy
additional shares of a new issue to preserve equity before others have a right to purchase shares
of the new issue.
Tag-a long rights on the other hand are a contractual obligation used to protect minority
shareholders. When a majority shareholder sells h is or her stake, then the minority
shareholders have the right to join the transaction and sell the ir minority stake in the company
a t the same price. Th is means th a t a ll sh are holders can effectively sell the ir shares for the
same price rather th an having tiered pricing.
The following Figure C-65 shows th a t wh ile approximately h a lf of banks protect their minority
shareholders through tag-a long rights (51%), only a minority of listed companies (31%) do so.
Figure C-65: The use of tag-along rights
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v. Obtaining relevant and material information on a timely and regular basis
The majority of disclosure and transparency issues are covered in the previous section. In
addition, best practice calls for shareholders to be furnished with sufficient and time ly
information concerning the date, location, and agenda of the general assembly, as well as full
and timely information regarding the issues to be decided at the assembly. General assembly
notices should provide shareholders reasonable time to receive agendas, consider voting items,
make arrangements to attend the meeting, and vote in time. It is generally thought th a t such
information should be provided to shareholders at least 20 days in advance of the assembly.
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Figure C-66 shows th at most banks (55%) followed th is best practice, however, th a t only 22% of
listed companies did so.
Figure C-66: Notification period to distribute information prior to the general assembly
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The following Figure C-67 shows the information provided to shareholders prior to the meeting.
In summary, a ll banks and the vast majority of listed companies provide an agenda, and
information on the assembly time and place. On the other hand, less th an ha lf of listed
companies (47%) provide additional information on agenda items, while 64% of banks did so.
Proxy voting instructions still require more attention, as just over h a lf (56.3%) disclosed proxy
voting instructions.
Figure C-67: Information provided to shareholders prior to the general assembly
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Section D. Focus on Banks, Family-, and State-Owned Enterprises
I. Corporate governance issues related to banks
Corporate governance is particularly significant for the banking sector due to the important role
they play in an economy. First and foremost, banks accept deposits from and are liable to t he
general public. These deposits constitute a significant portion of a nation’s wealth, and must
therefore be managed appropriate ly. Should th is wealth be managed inadequately, people’s
money and livelihoods could be at stake. Another issue tha t makes bank governance so significant
is the fact th a t banks provide loans. Indeed, banks are the sole source of financing for the grea t
majority of enterprises, in particular in emerging markets. The assessment and selection of customers
and the ensuing decisions to extend or refuse credit are important processes th a t fundamenta l ly
influence the growth of the economy. Finally, some banks are expected to make credit and liquidity
ava ilable in diff icult market conditions. The importance of banks to national economies is
underscored by the fact th at banking is, almost universally, a regulated industry. It is thus of grea t
importance th at banks have strong corporate governance practices.
Wit h th is in mind it is important to note th a t commercia l banks and other deposit-tak ing financia l
institutions have specia l governance risks and complexities since: (i) banks take large amounts of
risk-bearing (and thus forward-looking) obligations on their books, and hence weak interna l
controls and accountability can cause urgent and rapid crises, as currently witnessed in the wake of
the US sub-prime mortgage crisis with its global implications; (ii) the collapse of a bank wi l l
usually destroy value for its public depositors, not just shareholders, and may even require a costly
bail-out by the fiscal authorities; and (iii) there is the systemic risk th a t the collapse of a single
bank can undermine the entire banking system. Because of these specia l governance risks, banks are
usually required by law or regulation to have certa in specif ic governance structures and reporting
standards.

i. Demonstrating commitment to good corporate governance
Seventy three percent (73%) of bank managers and directors reported their familiarity with t he
BCBS Guidelines, 28 as shown in Figure D-1. On the other hand, as can be determined from the
below, translating th is knowledge into actual practice remains a challenge.
Figure D-1: Are managers and directors familiar with the BSBC Guidelines?

No
27%

Yes
73%

Indeed, an understanding by the survey’s respondents as to the business case for implementing
good corporate governance, beyond compliance, appears to be lacking with banks as well.

28

Basel Committee for Banking Supervision and its Guidelines for Enhancing Corporate Governance for Banking
Organizations, published in 1999 and revised in 2006.
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Did you know that Romania’s Banca Comerciala Romana (BCR) was upgraded by Fitch
Ratings (individual rating to C/D from D) and S &P (long-term counterparty rating to B Bfrom B+) due to improvements to its corporate governance? Both agencies cited improvements
in corporate governance and risk management as the main reasons for the upgrades. 29 Th is is
but one of many case studies th at demonstrate th a t corporate governance can add va lue.
In addition to their responsibility to shareholders, banks also have a responsibility towards
depositors. Sound corporate governance contributes to the protection of depositors of the bank,
requiring the board to approve the strategic objectives tak ing into account and balancing the
interests of shareholders and depositors.
Figure D-2 below shows th a t most banks expressly include in their formal documents the
responsibility of assuring levels of liquidity and the protection of depositors. It should be noted
th a t according to best practice depositors’ interests should be considered in conjunction with any
applicable deposit insurance systems in place maintaining enough liquidity in the banking
system.
Figure D-2: Is the board formally responsible for protecting the interests of depositors

41%
Yes
No
59%

ii. Implementing good board practices
a. Specific functions of the board
A bank’s board is ultimately responsible for the operations and financia l soundness of the bank.
In carrying-out their responsibility, directors should primarily oversee and guide management.
Moreover, directors should, inter alia: (i) understand and execute their oversight role, including
to understand the bank’s risk profile; (ii) approve the overall business strategy of the bank,
including approval of the overa ll risk policy and risk management procedures; (iii) exercise
their duty of loyalty and duty of care to the bank under applicable national laws and
supervisory standards; and (iv) avoid conflicts of interest, or the appearance of conflicts, in
their activities with, and commitments to, other organizations.

29

The Irresistible Case for Corporate Governance (IFC, March 2006). See www.ifc.org/corporategovernance.
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Figure D-3, however, illustrates th a t bank directors do not always follow these best practices.
Figure D-3: Functions bank boards approve and oversee

Legal/regulatory compliance
Loan/credit classifications
Money laundering / terrorism finance

50%

15%
40%

49%

63%

11%
44%

Loss reserves/provisions

55%

12%

Credit Policy

44%

12%

78%

42%
36%
41%

Prevention of self-dealing / insider trading
Code of Ethics / Stakeholder relationships

Monitor

54%

53%

21%

Large exposures

Formally Approved

58%

37%

18%

Credit operation

None

62%

34%

14%

Internal controls, external audit, preparation of financial statements

62%

47%

11%

27%

0%

10%

20%

30%

31%

49%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

b. Board structure
As already established above, board-level committees can help make the board’s work more
eff icient and effective. The same holds true for management-level committees.
All surveyed banks indicated th a t they h ave one or more committees, at both the management
and board levels, however, as Figure D-4 demonstrates, there is confusion as to which issues the
board should focus its attention on, vs. those under the exclusive purview of management.
Typica l board-level committees as previously mentioned include the audit, remuneration, and
nominations and corporate governance committees. Some bank boards chose to establish
separate risk committees, wh ile others chose to assign th is responsibility to the audit
committee. The credit, asset and liability (or ALCO), information technology or product
development committees are typica lly established at the management level. Many banks also
choose to establish risk committees at the management level.
Of note is th a t wh ile only 19% of banks h ave board-level risk committees, 31% of boards have
credit committees. And while the board should be setting policies on risk and credit issues,
possibly through a board-level risk committee, the implementation of these matters should be
left to the management team and management level risk and credit committees. Credit
decisions in particular should be handled by management, with the board establish ing the
bank’s risk appetite and credit policy under which management operates.
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Figure D-4: Board and management committees established
100%

90%

90%

88%
81%

80%

69%
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40%

31%

30%
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Level
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Board Level
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Management

Board Level
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Management

Board Level

10%

Level

0%

12%

Management

10%

19%

Board Level

20%

Credit Committee

iii. Building a robust control environment through clear reporting structures
a. Reporting lines for the chief risk officer
The CRO should be independent of any
business line, so as to avoid any conflicts
of interest. Best practice further calls for
the CRO to report to the CEO, or to a
management-level risk committee and
the board; should the CRO report to t he
CEO, s/he has a “dotted line” reporting
rela tionship to the board or a relevant
board committee, such as the audit or risk
committees.
And while Figure D-5
provides evidence th a t the CRO does
indeed report to the CEO in 72% of t he
cases, there is little to demonstrate t h a t
there is any reporting line, full or dotted,
to the board (13%) or its audit committee
(18%), let alone a risk committee.

Figure D-5: Reporting lines for the chief risk
officer
Risk management

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
CEO
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b. Reporting lines for the chief compliance officer
Compliance means complying wit h
Figure D-6: Reporting lines for the chief
the conduct of business rules imposed
compliance officer
by regulators, the law, the capit a l
Compliance officer
100%
markets,
established
market
practices and other regulatory
90%
requirements and standards, as we ll
80%
as internal processes and procedures.
70%
The compliance function plays a
60%
particularly important role in banks
50%
due to the important number of
40%
processes and procedures required to
30%
properly operate a bank. The CCO
20%
needs to be independent of any
10%
business line, so as to avoid conflicts
0%
of interest. At a minimum, s/he
CEO
Audit committee Board of directors Chief of the board
reports to a senior level manager—but
not less th an two steps removed from
the CEO—and has unrestricted access to the CEO and CFO, or to a relevant management-leve l
committee. Best corporate governance practice is increasingly calling for the CCO to have a
dotted reporting line to the board’s audit committee as well. Figure D-6 demonstrates th a t t he
CCO reports to the CEO in the great majority of cases (70%), but th a t reporting to the board can
be improved upon.
c. Reporting lines for the chief internal auditor
As previously established, best practice calls for th e CIA to report to the board through its
audit committee on a functional basis and to the CEO on an administrative basis. Figure D-7
provides evidence th a t reporting lines for the CIA remain muddled, with only 40% of CIA’s
reporting to the board’s audit committee.
Figure D-7: Reporting lines for the chief internal auditor
Internal auditor
100%
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iv. Know your client: assessing the corporate governance of borrowers
As much as banks have traditionally looked after the financia l performance of its borrowers,
they may also be well served to pay attention to their governance practices. Indeed, assessing,
improving, and monitoring the corporate governance practices of their clients may not only help
minimize the ir portfolio risk but also add value to th eir client’s business.
Results indicate th a t a significant majority of banks (58%) do not include an evaluation of the ir
clients’ corporate governance practices, as seen on the Figure D-8 below.
Figure D-8: Does the bank evaluate its clients’ corporate governance practices

42%
Yes
No
58%

II. Corporate governance issues related to family-owned enterprises30
Severa l studies have shown tha t FOEs outperform the ir non-family counterparts in terms of sa les,
profits, and other growth measures.31 Th is h igh performance is the result of the inherent strengths
th a t FOEs have compared to the ir counterparts. Some of these strengths include: (i) identif ication
with and strong commitment by the family members to the family business; (ii) knowledge
continuity, i.e., families pass their accumulated knowledge, experience, and skills on to the next
generations; and (iii) reliability and pride, in particular when the family name is associated wit h
the business.
However, most FOEs have a very short life span beyond their founder’s stage. Indeed, some 95% of
family businesses do not survive the th ird generation of ownership. Th is h igh rate of failure among
FOEs is attributed to a multitude of reasons. Some of these reasons are the same ones th a t could
make any other business fail, such as poor management, insufficient cash to fund growth, inadequate
control of costs, industry life cycles, and other macro conditions. However, FOEs also show some
weaknesses th at are especia lly relevant to their nature. Some of these weaknesses are: ( i)
complexity, i.e., family businesses are usually more complex in terms of governance th an the ir
counterparts due to the addition of a new variable: th e family; (ii) informality in th at because most
families manage their businesses themselves during the first and second generations, there is
usually very little interest in setting clearly articulated business practices and procedures; and (ii i )
lack of discipline with respect to financia l and operational oversight, succession planning, and
a ttracting and reta ining skilled outside managers.

30

31

For more information on best practices in the area of FOE governance, please visit www.ifc.org/corporategovernance to
download a copy of IFC’s recently published Handbook
Denis Leach and John Leahy, “Ownership Structures, Control and the Performance of Large British Companies”,
Economic Journal, 1991.
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Did you know wha t steps family-owned enterprises take when they get serious about corporate
governance? They:
1.

Establish a “family constitution”;

2.

Establish a family employment policy—and separate family members’ rights and
responsibilities as shareholders and as employees;

3.

If the firm will not pay dividends, set up a fund or other mechanism to buy out fami ly
shareholders who prefer, for example, annuity income over owning a growth stock;

4.

Create a succession plan for the owner/founder/CEO/ch a irman;

5.

Develop transparent systems for financia l accounting, management accounting, human
resources, and strategy development; and

6.

Create a board which can seriously add va lue to the business itself.

i. Establishing a family constitution
The family constitution is commonly defined as a statement on the family’s core values, vision,
and mission of the business. The constitution also defines the roles, compositions, and authorities
of key governance bodies of the company and family, including family members, shareholders,
managers, and directors. In addition, the family constitution defines the rela tionships among
the governance bodies and how family members can meaningfully participate in the governance
of their business.
In summary, the establishment of a family constitution provides FOEs with a tool to
differentia te the family interests from those of the company and regulate the policies th a t wil l
guide the relationship between the family and the company.
Figure D-9 clearly illustrates th at wh ile 50% of listed companies had adopted a fami ly
constitution, not a single bank had done so. This is likely expla ined by the fact th a t banks
operate under a strict regulatory environment, wh ich often conta in ownership restrictions and f it
and proper tests th a t family members are subject to, and hence many banks may not feel t h a t
they would benefit from such a family constitution, although they might well do so.
Figure D-9: Presence of family constitutions

100%
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40%
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ii. Implementing succession planning
Succession planning is defined as the process of continuously search ing for future leaders and the
systematic development of the ir professional, manageria l, and leadersh ip qualities. Succession
planning is neither limited to the board cha irman and CEO, nor does it suffice to simply appoint
a deputy. Best practice calls for the process of succession planning to begin many years before the
actual transition, in order to identify and develop the successor.
A planned succession process allows for the gradual transfer of responsibility from one business
leader to the next and increases the likeli hood of a successful transition, i.e., one th a t is hardly
noticed. Eventually the transition from one business leader to the next must end on an agreedupon date at wh ich time the incumbent transfers authority.
The idea l method of choosing a successor is through the consensus of the existing business leader,
the directors, the management team, and the family. It works best when the incumbent business
leader sees it as h is or her responsibility and follows through on the necessary actions in a timely
manner.
Unfortunately, family succession plans are not widespread in the region, and results from Figure
D-10 show that only 29% of respondents have prepared a succession plan.
Figure D-10: Presence of succession plans

29%

71%

Yes

No

Did you know that the following five steps are considered best practice in properly managing
the succession planning process in family businesses: (i) prepare the incumbent business leaders
to eventually relinquish control and develop next career moves or retirement plans; (ii) prepare
the business to function without the incumbent business leaders; (iii) develop the successor for
future roles in the business, including the business leader’s role; (iv) prepare the family, e.g.,
by having the family agree on a family mission statement, the va lues stated in which wi l l
influence the succession planning process; and (v) prepare the owners of the business for a
transfer of ownership from one generation to the next?

iii. Developing a family member employment policy
Family members often play an important role in FOEs th at should not be minimized or
underestimated, supporting the mission and values in which the company was founded—indeed,
what many consider to be an essentia l part of the success and future growth of FOEs. At the same
time, family members can often lead to a company’s downfall. How? Many FOEs th a t do not
establish a clear employment policy for family members end-up with more employees from the
family th an the company needs. In some instances these family members are ill-equipped for
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the jobs tha t they are given with in the business. Even worse, some FOEs find themselves
acquiring businesses th a t h ave no relationship with the ir original business or keeping some
unprofitable business lines just to ensure th a t everybody in the family receives or remains
employed with in the company. Before a FOE enters into the sibling partnersh ip stage, good
practice calls for families to formalize the ir family members’ employment policies.

Did you know that a family member employment policy should be regularly reviewed and
updated, and conta in the following seven elements: (i) entry into the business (age,
qualif ications, skills, and requirement for prior experience outside of the business); ( i i)
permission of part-time work; (iii) remuneration; (iv) tra ining and personal development; (v)
employment of spouses; (vi) termination; and (vii) retirement? Th is would require setting-up
clear rules about the terms and conditions of family employment with in the firm.
Once developed and agreed upon by the family, the written employment policy should be made
ava ilable to a ll family members. Th is will he lp set the right expectations about fami ly
employment among all family members from the very beginning.

Finally, the appointment of external managers and directors allows the FOE to receive
impartia l and objective opinions provided purely on business grounds.
Figure D-11 shows th a t family membership at the board-level is preva lent in listed companies,
with 75% of respondents citing th a t the ir boards are composed of a majority of family members.
Banks on the other hand show a substantia l ly h igh er degree of non-family membership, wit h
only 33% of boards being composed of a majority of family members. A reason is likely to be the
strict fit and proper requirements imposed on family-owned banks by the regulator. Indeed, a l l
family-owned banks (FOBs) responding to the survey cited th at family board members were
required to comply with eligible qualif ications for being a board member, wh ile th is percentage
fa lls to 50% for listed companies.
Figure D-11: Family members serving on boards of family-owned banks and enterprises
75.00%

80%
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60%
40%

33%
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20%
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At the same time, the position of CEO is held by a non-family member among 67% of FOBs,
while th is percentage falls to 50% for FOEs, as shown in Figure D-12.

Figure D-12: Is the position of CEO held by a family member?
67%

70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
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50%

50%
33%
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No

Banks Listed companies
Results of the survey show th a t most of the family-owned banks and family-owned listed
companies surveyed (67% and 75%, respectively) have family employment policies or
professional requirements for family members applying for a position with in the company, as
observed in the following Figure D-13.
Figure D-13: Presence of family employment policies or requirements
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However, as stated above, it appears th a t few companies have formally captured such
requirements in a family employment policy.

Page 71

MENA-WIDE C ORPORAT E GOVERNANCE SURVEY
SECTION D: SPECIAL FOCUS ON BANKS, FOES AND SOES

Did you know th a t the performance of family-owned UK firms tends to suffer when they are
managed by the eldest son of the founder? A study of inherited family firms and management
practices in the UK shows th at while family ownership seems to improve a company’s
management practices, family management of family-owned firms often leads to performance
woes.32
The two problems with family management are th a t:
Selecting a CEO from the small group of potentia l family members severely
restricts the ava i lable pool of manageria l ability
Assuring family members of manageria l positions later in life can lead to t he
“Carnegie effect”, in which family members work less hard at school and early in the ir
careers with the knowledge of a guaranteed family job.
Even worse, choosing a CEO by “primogeniture” (selecting the eldest son to lead) tends to lead to
extremely bad performance. The lack of a selection pool and the Carnegie effect become much
more severe in situations of primogeniture, since the CEO position is determined from birth.
iv. Establishing a family council
The family council is a working governing body th at is elected by the family assembly among its
members to deliberate on family (business) issues. The council is usually established once the
family reaches a critica l size, i.e., more th an 30 family members. In th is situation, it becomes
very diff icult for the family assembly to have meaningful discussions and make prompt and
qualif ied decisions. The family council is established at th is point as a representative
governance body for the family assembly in coordinating the interests of the family members in
their business.

Did you know that the duties of a typica l family council would include: (i) being the primary
link between the family, the board, and senior management; (ii) suggesting and discussing
names of candidates for board membership; (ii i) drafting and revising family position papers
on its vision, mission, and va lues; (iii) drafting and revising family policies such as fami ly
employment, compensation, and family shareholding policies; and (iv) dealing with other
important matters to the family. 33

Just as any well-functioning committee, the family council should have a manageable size, i.e.,
from approximately five to ten members. One good practice is to set limited terms for the
council’s membersh ip so as to a llow more family members to be part of the council and create a
feeling of fa irness and equal opportunities with in th e family. Depending on the complexity of
issues facing the family, the council would meet from two to six times per year.

32

33

From “Inherited Family Firms and Management Practices: The Case for Modernising the UK’s Inheritance Tax.” Centre
for Economic Performance, London School of Economics.

Ivan Lansberg, Succeeding Generations: Realizing the Dream of Families in Business (Harvard Business School Press,
1999); Fred Neubauer and Alden G.Lank, The Family Business: it’s Governance for Sustainability (Routledge New York,
1998).
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As seen in Figure D-14 below the survey shows th at th is body is not commonly established in the
region, neither for banks nor for listed companies.
Figure D-14: Presence of family councils
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III. Corporate governance issues related to state-owned enterprises
Best practice calls on governments to: 34
1.

Ensure a level-play ing field for state-owned enterprises competing with the priva te sector
by; (i) clearly separating the state’s ownership role from its regulatory role; and (ii) a llowing
more flexibility in capita l structures while making sure th at state-owned enterprises face
competitive access to finance.

2.

Become more informed and active share holders by: (i) simplifying the cha in of
accountability through centralizing or more effectively coordinating shareholding
responsibilities with in the sta te administration; (ii) reducing political interference in dayto-day management; and (iii) introducing a transparent nomination process for boards, based
on competence and skills.

3.

Empower boards by: (i) clarify ing their mandates and respecting their independence; (ii)
separating the role of cha irman and CEO and providing boards with the power to appoint
CEOs; and (iii) systematica lly monitoring the board’s performance.

4.

Improve transparency by: (i) strengthening internal controls; (ii) carrying-out independent,
external audits based on international standards; (iii) disclosing any financial assistance
from the state; and (iv) producing aggregate performance reports.

Indeed, corporate governance helps governments eva luate and improve the way SOEs perform, and
manage the ir responsibilities as company owners more effectively. This holds particularly true

34

The OECD Guidelines on Corporate Governance for State Owned Enterprises, April 2005. See www.oecd.org.
Page 73

MENA-WIDE C ORPORAT E GOVERNANCE SURVEY
SECTION D: SPECIAL FOCUS ON BANKS, FOES AND SOES

given the fact th a t most SOEs traditionally opera te in strategic sectors, such as electricity,
telecommunications, infrastructure, and utilities.
Severa l specific governance cha llenges affect SOEs, including conflicts in reconciling competing
social and profit-seeking objectives, poor board practices and opaque nominating procedures for
directors and senior managers, lax control processes and procedures, poor transparency and
disclosure, and competing ‘ownership’ interests between government agencies.
i. Exercising property and ownership rights
The main corporate governance cha llenge regarding SOEs is the exercise of property rights and
the performance of the ownership function, considering the potentia l ly diffuse identity of t he
major share holder (the Sta te). The control over the company can be seen from a dua l
perspective: on the one hand, who has the property rights; on the other, who exercises t he
politica l rights. In different countries SOEs are not owned by the State itself but by a different
entity, such as a municipa lity, or a specia l holding, such as a centra l national unit th a t puts
together all the participations of the state and acts as the owner.
Figure D-15 below shows th at a signif icant majority of the sample surveyed (67%) is owned by
the state itself. Only one fifth of the respondents (19%) are owned by a central national unit
acting as an ownership entity. Best practice is increasingly, although not unequivocally, ca lling
for centra lized national units to act as an owner and, at a minimum, coordinate corporate
governance improvements in SOEs.
Figure D-15: Ownership of state-owned enterprises
14%

19%

67%
A Central National Unit acting as ownership entity
The State / Municipality
Another State-owned company/bank

Figure D-16 revea ls th a t the exercise of politica l rights is usually a competence of a h ighprofile public officer or delegate (80% of responses in aggregate terms), regardless of t he
shareholder’s identity. (Of note is th at an overwhelming majority of state-owned banks
(SOBs), over 90% of respondents, declared th a t property rights are exercised by a h igh-profi le
public officer or a delegate, wh ile th is percentage falls to 62% of respondents for SOEs th a t are
partia lly listed on an exchange.)
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Figure D-16: Exercise of political rights
10%
10%

35%

45%
A high-profile public officer
A delegate from a high-profile public officer
An outsider appointed on a professional skills basis
Other

In exercising its ownersh ip, the state should act as an informed and active owner, establish ing
clear and consistent ownersh ip policies, ensuring th at the affa irs of its SOEs are carried out in a
transparent and accountable manner, with the necessary degree of professionalism.
Any obligations and responsibilities th at a SOE is required to undertake in terms of public
services beyond the generally accepted norm should be clearly mandated by laws or regulations,
and publicly disclosed, with rela ted costs being covered in a transparent manner.
Figure D-17 illustrates th at there is an effective separation between public policy and the
business objectives of SOE, with 67% of SOEs citing an existing difference between socia l and
profit-seeking objectives.
Figure D-17: Difference in social and profit-seeking objectives
33%

67%

Yes

No

Most SOEs report to the controlling agency on an ad-hoc basis, upon request (45%), and not on a
pre-determined and periodic basis, for example, annua lly (25%).
ii. Demonstrating commitment to good corporate governance
The OECD Guidelines on Corporate Governance for SOEs (OECD SOE Guidelines) represent t he
first international benchmark to assist governments in improving the corporate governance of
SOEs, and how they perform the ir ownersh ip function. The Guidelines provide the framework
applicable to SOEs and synthesize the core elements of a good corporate governance regime for
SOEs.
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It appears from Figure D-18 th a t the OECD SOE Guidelines are not as well known as the OECD
Principles or BSBC Guidelines, as just over ha lf of the respondents (56%) declared to be famili a r
with their content and scope. And so awareness ra ising on the importance of corporate
governance for SOEs should be pursued by the relevant public and private sector stake holders.
Figure D-18: Are key officers and directors familiar with the OECD Guidelines?

44%

56%

Yes

No

Importantly, only 33.3% of government ownersh ip entities h ave a policy or requirement for the ir
SOEs or SOBs to adopt good corporate governance practices, demonstrating th at corporate
governance does not appear to be of primary concern for most governments (see Figure D-19).

Figure D-19: Public policies requiring SOEs or SOBs to adopt good corporate governance
33%

67%

Yes

No

iii. Implementing good board practices
a. The composition of the board
The boards of SOEs should have the necessary authority, composition, and competency, and
structure to strategica lly guide and monitor management. In doing so, it is of great importance to
h ave appropria te nomination procedures to ensure th a t only those directors are nominated to
the board th a t demonstrate the h ighest integrity, competency, and accountability.
The procedure for appointing board members in SOEs h as traditionally been opaque. However,
the nomination and election of directors is one of the major cha llenges to finding a balance
between the sta te’s responsibilities for actively exercising its ownership functions while at t he
same time refra ining from imposing undue political interference in the management of t he
company. 35

35

OECD Guidelines on corporate governance - Foreword
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Figure D 20 shows that being a high-proﬁle public ofﬁcer (62%) remains the primary criteria for
nominating a director to the board of a SOE, contrary to good practice. Competency and skills are a
secondary requirement, fortunately considered as an important criterion by 52% of SOEs.
Figure D-20: Nomination criteria for board membership

62%

High-profile public officer (Minister, Director of an Agency
52%

Competence level and skills
14%

Agree with politics of the Government
Functionary of the ownership entity

10%

Other

10%
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Finally, results show th at just over ha lf of those surveyed (52%) state th a t directors are
remunerated for the ir board services (see Figure D-21).
Figure D-21: Remuneration of directors

48%
52%

Yes

No
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Section E. Annexes
I. Annex 1: survey methodology
i. Survey population
The survey population consisted of 1,044 banks36 and listed companies from 1111 MENA
countries, divided into three separated groups: non-listed banks (57 cases); listed banks (65
cases); and listed companies (922 cases). As shown in Table E-1, banks and listed companies
are distributed among countries as follows:
Table E- 1: Di stributi on o f ban ks and l isted companie s b y countr ies
Non-listed
banks

Listed
banks

Listed
companies

TOTAL

Bahrain

1

6

41

48

Egypt

21

17

125

163

Jordan

13

2

204

219

Kuwait

1

6

164

171

Lebanon

0

0

9

9

Morocco37

5

0

52

57

Oman

1

5

139

145

Saudi Arabia

2

9

71

82

Tunisia

5

9

35

49

UAE

5

7

57

69

WB & Gaza

3

4

25

32

TOTAL

57

65

922

1044

To design a representative sample, a measure of the size of the banks and listed companies
being part of the population was considered. Specif ica lly, and as shown in Table E-2, banks
h ave been grouped into four categories in terms of the ir assets: (i) small banks with less th an
$1,000 million in assets; (ii) medium-sized banks, with between $1,000 and $4,000 million in
assets; (iii) large banks with more th an $4,000 milli on in assets; and (iv) banks for which
information on assets was non ava ilable (n/a).

36

37

Lebanese banks were not included in the survey, as IFC had previously conducted a survey of banks in Lebanon,
which can be viewed under www.ifc.org/mena/corporategovernance.

There is no available information on the fact of being listed or not for ﬁve Moroccan banks. Those banks have not
been included in the population
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Listed companies in turn were grouped along sales into the following four categories: (i) less
th an $10 million; (ii) between $10 and $50 million; (ii i) more th an $50 mil lion; and (iv)
information on sales non ava ilable (n/a). 38
Table E-2: Distribution of respondents by size39
Medium

Large

< $1,000

1,000 - 4,000

> 4,000

< 10

10 – 50

> 50

n/a

Listed banks

Listed companies

Listed companies

Listed banks

Non-listed banks

Listed banks

Listed companies

TOTAL

Non-listed banks

Listed companies

Listed banks

Non-listed banks

Listed banks

Non-listed banks

COs

Listed companies

Listed

Non-listed banks

Banks

Small

Bah
rain

1

1

3

0

3

17

0

1

17

0

1

4

1

6

41

Egypt

8

5

39

5

6

37

5

1

47

3

5

2

21

17

125

Jordan

6

1

105

4

0

47

2

0

14

1

1

38

13

2

204

Kuwait

0

0

15

1

1

51

0

5

97

0

0

1

1

6

164

Lebanon 0

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

2

0

0

6

0

0

9

Morocco 0

0

6

0

0

14

0

0

23

5

0

9

5

0

52

Oman

0

1

52

0

3

38

0

1

20

1

0

29

1

5

139

Saudi
Arabia

0

0

24

0

1

22

0

8

22

2

0

3

2

9

71

Tunisia

3

1

8

0

8

16

0

0

11

2

0

0

5

9

35

UAE

0

1

1

2

1

1

3

5

8

0

0

47

5

7

57

WB
&
Gaza
0

3

4

0

0

3

0

0

1

3

1

17

3

4

25

TOTAL

13

257

12

23

247

10

21

262

17

8

156

57

65

922

18

38

39

Sector of activity has not been a principal criterion in order to design the sample, as it was arranged. However,
when selecting the companies being part of the sample, we have tried to select companies from all the sectors of
activity, in order to best represent the different sectors of the economy of each country.
Amounts are in millions of US dollars in sales.
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ii. Theoretical background: random sampling
Consider the following symbols:
h = 1,.., H groups into which the surveyed population was divided (3 classes defined by
the type of company, H=3),
Nh number of units in group h (= number of companies in group h)
N = N1 + … + N H number of units from the tota l popula tion
nh no of units in the sample for group h
n = n1 + …+n H tota l number of units in the global sample
ph ratio of units in group h th a t meet a certa in requirement “A”
The following formulas were used in order to estimate proportions
The ratio of units in group h th at meet requirement „A” is calculated as follows:

pˆ h =

ah
nh

W here ah is the number of meeting requirement „A”, in the h group, and th is number may
be interpreted as a sum for all the units in group h of th e va lues of a binary va lue Y, wh ich
indicates the fact th a t requirement „A” has been met:

ah =

nh

j =1

Yh , j

Formulas used in order to calculate the precision of th e estimates made are as follows.
Estimate ph falls subject to sample error, due to th e fact th a t only one sample of the
population group h is being studied, not the entire group. The maximum sample error, with
a confidence level of 1-c, is given through the following formula

SAMPLE ERROR

Zc

2

N h nh 0.5 0,5
( N h 1) nh

W here Zc/2 denotes the percentile c/2 of the distribution of a standard normal random
variable (Zc/2=1.96 if a confidence level of 95% is considered). Sample error is strict ly
lower th an th is upper bound when ph is different from 0.5.
iii. Sample design
Each of the three groups is treated independently of the others. Hence, three samples were
selected, each one being representative of one of the three groups considered:
Listed banks: h=1
Listed banks h=2
Listed companies: h=3
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For each of these groups, size was determined in such a way th a t sample error (i.e. t he
difference between the ratios in the sample and the entire population for the units meeting
requirement “A”) will be lower th an 5%, with a confidence level of 95%. Results for t he
whole population will then be estimated by using th e corresponding weights for companies
in each sub sample. Such sizes are:
No listed banks: n1 = 50
Listed banks: n2 = 56
Listed companies: n3 = 272
S ince the population sizes are small, samples are rela tively large: they are a lmost
exhaustive for both groups of banks and 29.4% of the listed companied need to be
interviewed to fulfill the requirements on sample error.
Each sample was proportionally distributed among a ll countries (ten countries for banks40
and 11 countries for listed companies) and among groups of tota l assets or gross sales
respectively, obtaining the following samples design (see Table E-3). 4142

40
41

42

As referred to in Footnote 1.

Please note that the distribution of listed companies among countries is not exactly proportional, as the sample for
the countries with the smallest number of listed companies (Lebanon +3, Tunisia +1 and WB & Gaza +3) have been
slightly over sampled to reduce sample error. These deviations will be compensated by establishing the appropriate
weight in the procedure of sample calibration.
Please note the considerations regarding the sector of activity are already referred to in Footnote 3.
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Table E-3: Distribution of respondents43
Small

Medium

Large

< $1,000

1,000 - 4,000

> 4,000

COs

< 10

10 – 50

> 50

Bahrain

1

1

1

0

3

5

0

1

5

0

1

1

1

6

12

Egypt

7

4

11

5

5

11

4

1

14

2

4

0

18

14

36

Jordan

5

1

29

4

0

13

2

0

4

0

1

10

11

2

56

Kuwait

0

0

4

1

1

16

0

4

28

0

0

0

1

5

48

Lebanon

0

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

4

0

0

6

Morocco

0

0

2

0

0

4

0

0

6

4

0

3

4

0

15

Oman

0

1

14

0

2

11

0

1

6

1

0

9

1

4

40

Saudi
Arabia

0

0

7

0

1

7

0

7

7

2

0

0

2

8

21

Tunisia

3

1

3

0

7

5

0

0

3

1

0

0

4

8

11

UAE

0

1

1

2

1

1

3

4

2

0

0

13

5

6

17

WB
&
Gaza

0

3

2

0

0

1

0

0

1

3

0

6

3

3

10

TOTAL

16

12

75

12

20

74

9

18

77

13

6

46

50

56

272

43

Amounts are in millions of US dollars.
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Listed banks

Listed companies

Listed companies

Listed banks

Non-listed banks

Listed banks

Listed companies

TOTAL

Non-listed banks

Listed companies

Listed banks

Non-listed banks

Listed companies

Listed banks

Non-listed banks

Listed

Non-listed banks

Banks

n/a
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Wit h th is design, the sample error with a confidence level of 95% for each type of entity in
each country is depicted in Table E-4.
Table E-4: Sample Error for each type of entity
Non listed banks

Listed banks

Listed companies

Ba hra in

0.0%

0.0%

24.1%

Egypt

8.9%

11.3%

13.9%

Jordan

12.1%

0.0%

11.5%

Kuwait

0.0%

19.6%

11.2%

Lebanon

--

--

24.5%

Morocco

24.5

0.0%

21.5%

Oman

0.0%

24.5%

13.2%

Saudi Arabia

0.0%

12.2%

18.9%

Tunisia

24.5%

12.2%

24.8%

UAE

0.0%

16.3%

20.1%

WB & Gaza

0.0%

32.7%

24.5%

TOTAL

5%

5%

5%

Banks and listed companies were selected on a random basis for each group as defined by
country, type of company and size of bank/company.
iv. Sample calibration
Once the f ield work was completed, potentia l devia tions from the designed sample were
analyzed and corrected by considering the appropria te weight for each company or bank
being part of the sample.
II. Annex 2: Corporate governance scoring methodology (indicators)
The corporate governance indicators for the MENA region as shown in Section C.I.ii were
determined as follows:
Th irty two (32) questions were taken from the survey’s key sections (Table E-5), each of wh ich
the survey authors thought to best represent adherence to key corporate governance practices.
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Table E-5: :List of corporate governance indicators
Number
of
indicators

Section

I. Demonstrating commitment to corporate governance
1. Banks and listed companies (hereinafter companies) that have a corporate governance code.
2. Companies that provide training for the board in corporate governance issues.
3. Companies whose boards are responsible for developing corporate governance practices.
6
4. Companies that are able to properly deﬁne corporate governance.
5. Companies that have cited implementing corporate governance practices as a very important
priority.

6. Companies that have a formalized code of ethics.
II. Implementing good board practices
7. Companies that have at least two (2) independent board members.
8. Companies where board members receive materials at least one week before the board meeting.
9. Companies that conduct an annual board performance evaluation.
10. Companies whose boards meet at least six (6) times a year.
9
11. Companies that have formalized qualification requirements for being nominated to the board.
12. Companies in which shareholders have a “say on pay”.
13. Companies in which there is at least one female board member.
14. Companies that have a succession plan in place.
15. Companies that separate the position of chairman and CEO.
III. Building a robust control environment and processes
16. Companies where the internal audit function reports to the board or the board’s audit
committee.

17. Companies that have an audit committee composed of a majority of independent directors.
18. Companies that have deﬁned a policy of external audit-partner rotation.
6
19. Companies in which the external audit ﬁrm does not provide additional services different than
audit.

20. Companies whose audit committee develops procedures and policies for internal control and
21.
IV.
22.
23.
24.
25.

risk management.

Companies that have an internal control function/internal controller.

Strengthening transparency and disclosure

Companies that prepare their ﬁnancial reports according to IFRS.
Companies that disclose ﬁnancial information on their website.

Companies that disclose non-ﬁnancial information on their websites.

Companies that disclose related party transactions to shareholders, for example, via their annual
report.

5

26. Companies that disclose their corporate governance policies and practices in their annual
report.

V. Protecting shareholders rights
27. Companies that have a voting policy allowing for cumulative voting.
28. Companies where shareholders are notiﬁed more than 20 days in advance of the shareholders
meeting.

29. Companies where shareholders receive supporting documents prior to the shareholders 6
meeting.
30. Companies where their board members and management disclose and abstain from voting on
issues where there is a conﬂict of interest.

31. Companies where tag along rights are in force to protect minority shareholders.
32. Companies that disclose the dividend policy on their website.
TOTAL
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The scores of the th irty two (32) indicators were then used to construct a measure of good
corporate governance (all items were given equal weigh ts).
The survey’s authors identified the banks and listed companies th a t satisfied each of
the criteria using the survey responses.
Finally, companies were grouped into five different levels of compliance, depending on
the number of indicators they met, ranging from underdeveloped to best practice, as
shown in Table E-6 below:

Table E-6: Indicators by banks and listed companies
Ranges

Level of practice

0-7

Underdeveloped practice

8-15

Emerging practice

16-23

Improved practice

24-31

Good practice

32

Best practice

TOTAL

The country comparison was conducted by averaging the number of indicators met by a l l
listed companies and banks located in a particular country.
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